PACKAGING CORP OF AMERICA Form 10-Q November 06, 2012 Table of Contents

## **UNITED STATES**

## SECURITIES AND EXCHANGE COMMISSION

Washington, D.C. 20549

## Form 10-Q

(Mark One)

•••

# x QUARTERLY REPORT PURSUANT TO SECTION 13 OR 15(d) OF THE SECURITIES EXCHANGE ACT OF 1934

For the Quarterly Period Ended September 30, 2012

or

# TRANSITION REPORT PURSUANT TO SECTION 13 OR 15(d) OF THE SECURITIES EXCHANGE ACT OF 1934

For the transition period from

Commission file number 1-15399

to

## PACKAGING CORPORATION OF AMERICA

(Exact Name of Registrant as Specified in its Charter)

Delaware (State or other Jurisdiction of

Incorporation or Organization)

**1955 West Field Court** 

Lake Forest, Illinois (Address of Principal Executive Offices)

(847) 482-3000

(Registrant s telephone number, including area code)

#### Not Applicable

(Former name, former address and former fiscal year, if changed since last report)

Indicate by check mark whether the Registrant (1) has filed all reports required to be filed by Section 13 or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 during the preceding 12 months (or for such shorter period that the Registrant was required to file such reports), and (2) has been subject to such filing requirements for the past 90 days. Yes x No "

Indicate by check mark whether the Registrant has submitted electronically and posted on its corporate Web site, if any, every Interactive Data File required to be submitted and posted pursuant to Rule 405 of Regulation S-T (\$232.405 of this chapter) during the preceding 12 months (or for shorter period that the Registrant was required to submit and post such files). Yes x No "

Indicate by check mark whether the registrant is a large accelerated filer, an accelerated filer, a non-accelerated filer, or a smaller reporting company. See the definitions of large accelerated filer, accelerated filer and smaller reporting company in Rule 12b-2 of the Exchange Act. (Check one):

Large accelerated filerxAccelerated filer\*Non-accelerated filer" (Do not check if a smaller reporting company)Smaller reporting company\*Indicate by check mark whether the Registrant is a shell company (as defined in Rule 12b-2 of the Exchange Act). Yes " No x\*

As of November 2, 2012, the Registrant had outstanding 98,201,774 shares of common stock, par value \$0.01 per share.

36-4277050 (IRS Employer

Identification No.)

60045 (Zip Code)

#### TABLE OF CONTENTS

|          | PART I  |    |
|----------|---|----|
| Item 1.  | Financial Statements  | 1  |
| Item 2.  | Management s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations | 18 |
| Item 3.  | Quantitative and Qualitative Disclosures About Market Risk                            | 28 |
| Item 4.  | Controls and Procedures   | 28 |
|          | PART II   |    |
| Item 1.  | Legal Proceedings   | 30 |
| Item 1A. | Risk Factors  | 30 |
| Item 2.  | Unregistered Sales of Equity Securities and Use of Proceeds                           | 30 |
| Item 3.  | Defaults Upon Senior Securities   | 30 |
| Item 4.  | Not Used  | 30 |
| Item 5.  | Other Information   | 30 |
| Item 6.  | Exhibits  | 31 |
| SIGNATU  | <u>IRES</u>   | 32 |

Page

#### PART I

#### FINANCIAL INFORMATION

Item 1. Financial Statements.

#### **Packaging Corporation of America**

#### **Condensed Consolidated Balance Sheets**

|  | ptember 30,<br>2012<br>Unaudited) |    | ccember 31,<br>2011<br>(Audited) |
|--|-----------------------------------|----|----------------------------------|
| (In thousands, except share and per share amounts)<br>ASSETS   |                                   |    |                                  |
| Current assets:  |                                   |    |                                  |
| Cash and cash equivalents  | \$<br>140,906                     | \$ | 156,313                          |
| Accounts receivable, net of allowance for doubtful accounts and customer deductions of \$5,494 and \$5,034 as of |                                   | ·  |                                  |
| September 30, 2012 and December 31, 2011, respectively   | 379,675                           |    | 319,988                          |
| Inventories  | 260,772                           |    | 254,675                          |
| Prepaid expenses and other current assets  | 27,023                            |    | 18,298                           |
| Federal and state income taxes receivable  | 82,576                            |    |                                  |
| Deferred income taxes  | 33,881                            |    | 62,789                           |
| Total current assets   | 924,833                           |    | 812,063                          |
| Property, plant and equipment, net   | 1,376,457                         |    | 1,476,654                        |
| Goodwill   | 71,555                            |    | 58,214                           |
| Other intangible assets, net   | 34,758                            |    | 25,042                           |
| Other long-term assets   | 47,547                            |    | 40,526                           |
| Total assets   | \$<br>2,455,150                   | \$ | 2,412,499                        |
| LIABILITIES AND STOCKHOLDERS EQUITY  |                                   |    |                                  |
| Current liabilities:   |                                   |    |                                  |
| Current maturities of long-term debt   | \$<br>15,000                      | \$ | 15,000                           |
| Capital lease obligations  | 949                               |    | 718                              |
| Accounts payable   | 147,308                           |    | 154,855                          |
| Dividends payable  | 24,578                            |    | 19,680                           |
| Accrued interest   | 4,672                             |    | 12,584                           |
| Federal and state income taxes payable   |                                   |    | 10,404                           |
| Accrued liabilities  | 114,750                           |    | 163,259                          |
| Total current liabilities  | 307,257                           |    | 376,500                          |
| Long-term liabilities:   |                                   |    |                                  |
| Long-term debt   | 782,370                           |    | 793,448                          |
| Capital lease obligations  | 25,151                            |    | 21,114                           |
| Deferred income taxes  | 135,361                           |    | 11,924                           |
| Pension and postretirement benefit plans   | 134,049                           |    | 148,686                          |
| Cellulosic biofuel tax reserve   | 102,051                           |    | 102,051                          |
| Other long-term liabilities  | 28,815                            |    | 29,866                           |
| Total long-term liabilities  | 1,207,797                         |    | 1,107,089                        |
| Stockholders equity:   |                                   |    |                                  |
| Common stock, par value \$0.01 per share, 300,000,000 shares authorized, 98,075,652 and 98,324,974 shares        |                                   |    |                                  |
| issued as of September 30, 2012 and December 31, 2011, respectively  | 981                               |    | 983                              |
| Additional paid in capital   | 370,905                           |    | 351,804                          |
| Retained earnings  | 670,178                           |    | 673,960                          |

## Edgar Filing: PACKAGING CORP OF AMERICA - Form 10-Q

| Accumulated other comprehensive loss, net of tax:                             |              |              |
|---|--------------|--------------|
| Unrealized loss on treasury locks, net  | (32,510)     | (23,289)     |
| Unrealized loss on foreign currency exchange contracts                        | (398)        | (413)        |
| Unfunded employee benefit obligations   | (69,060)     | (74,076)     |
| Total accumulated other comprehensive loss                                    | (101,968)    | (97,778)     |
| Common stock held in treasury, at cost (2,355 shares as of December 31, 2011) |              | (59)         |
| Total stockholders equity   | 940,096      | 928,910      |
| Total liabilities and stockholders equity                                     | \$ 2,455,150 | \$ 2,412,499 |

#### **Packaging Corporation of America**

#### Condensed Consolidated Statements of Income and Comprehensive Income

#### (Unaudited)

| 2012     2011       (in thousands, except per share amounts)     Statement of Income:     Statement of Income:       Net sales     \$ 723,473     \$ 670,824       Cost of sales     \$ 500,921)     \$ (533,077)       Gross profit     162,552     137,747       Selling and administrative expenses     (51,529)     (48,914)       Corporate overhead     (16,6900)     (16,424)       Other expense, net     (1,961)     (1,229)       Income from operations     92,072     71,180       Interest expense, net     (30,590)     (6,727)       Income before taxes     61,482     64,453       Provision for income taxes     (21,691)     (22,676)       Net income     \$ 39,791     \$ 41,777       Weighted average common share:     90,020     90,020       Basic     97,349     100,030       Net income per common share:     9     0.41     \$ 0.42       Diluted     \$ 0.41     \$ 0.42     \$ 0.42       Diluted     \$ 0.41     \$ 0.42     \$ 0.42       Dividends declared per common share:     \$ 0.42 </th <th></th> <th colspan="2">Three Months Ended<br/>September 30,</th> <th></th> |   | Three Months Ended<br>September 30, |   |    |                |
|---|---|-------------------------------------|---|----|----------------|
| Statemet of Income:     * 723,473     \$ 670,824       Cost of sales     (500,921)     (533,077)       Gross profit     162,552     137,747       Selling and administrative expenses     (51,529)     (48,914)       Corporate overhead     (16,990)     (16,424)       Other expense, net     (1,961)     (1,229)       Income from operations     92,072     71,180       Interest expense, net     (30,590)     (6,727)       Income from operations for income taxes     (21,691)     (22,676)       Net income     \$ 39,791     \$ 41,777       Weighted average common shares outstanding:  |   |                                     | 2012                                    |    | 2011           |
| Net sales   \$ 723,473   \$ 670,824     Cost of sales   (560,921)   (533,077)     Gross profit   162,552   137,747     Selling and administrative expenses   (51,529)   (48,914)     Corporate overhead   (16,990)   (16,242)     Other expense, net   (16,990)   (16,229)     Income from operations   92,072   71,180     Interest expense, net   (30,590)   (6,727)     Income before taxes   61,482   64,453     Provision for income taxes   (21,691)   (22,676)     Net income   \$ 39,791   \$ 41,777     Weighted average common shares outstanding:   96,360   99,020     Diluted   97,349   100,030     Net income per common share:   \$ 0,41   \$ 0,42     Basic   \$ 0,41   \$ 0,42     Diluted   \$ 0,41   \$ 0,42     Diluted   \$ 0,41   \$ 0,42     Diluted   \$ 0,25   \$ 0,20     Statement of Comprehensive Income:   \$ 0,25   \$ 0,20     Statement of Comprehensive Income:   \$ 0,41   \$ 0,42     Net income   |   |                                     |   |    |                |
| Cost of sales     (560,921)     (533,077)       Gross profit     162,552     137,747       Selling and administrative expenses     (51,529)     (48,914)       Corporate overhead     (16,990)     (16,224)       Other expense, net     (1,961)     (1,229)       Income from operations     92,072     71,180       Interest expense, net     (30,590)     (6,727)       Income before taxes     61,482     64,453       Provision for income taxes     (21,691)     (22,676)       Net income     \$ 39,791     \$ 41,777       Weighted average common shares outstanding:  |   | ¢                                   | 773 173                                 | ¢  | 670 824        |
| Gross profit   162,552   137,747     Selling and administrative expenses   (51,529)   (48,914)     Corporate overhead   (16,990)   (16,249)     Other expense, net   (1,961)   (1,229)     Income from operations   92,072   71,180     Interest expense, net   (30,590)   (6,727)     Income before taxes   61,482   64,453     Provision for income taxes   (21,691)   (22,676)     Net income   \$ 39,791   \$ 41,777     Weighted average common shares outstanding:  |   |                                     |   |    |                |
| Selling and administrative expenses $(51,52)$ $(48,914)$ Corporate overhead $(16,990)$ $(16,424)$ Other expense, net $(1,961)$ $(1,229)$ Income from operations $92,072$ $71,180$ Interest expense, net $(30,590)$ $(6,727)$ Income before taxes $61,482$ $64,453$ Provision for income taxes $(21,691)$ $(22,676)$ Net income\$ 39,791\$ 41,777Weighted average common shares outstanding: $=$ Basic $96,360$ $99,020$ Diluted $97,349$ $100,030$ Net income per common share: $=$ Basic\$ 0,411\$ 0.42Diluted\$ 0,411\$ 0.42Diluted\$ 0,411\$ 0.42Diluted\$ 0,255\$ 0.20Statement of Comprehensive Income: $=$ Net income\$ 39,791\$ 41,777Other comprehensive income (loss), net of tax: $=$ Fair value adjustment to cash flow hedges $(25,468)$ Reclassification adjustment to cash flow hedges $(25,468)$   |   |                                     | (500,721)                               |    | (555,077)      |
| Selling and administrative expenses   (51,529)   (48,914)     Corporate overhead   (16,990)   (16,424)     Other expense, net   (1,961)   (1,229)     Income from operations   92,072   71,180     Interest expense, net   (30,590)   (6,727)     Income before taxes   61,482   64,453     Provision for income taxes   (21,691)   (22,676)     Net income   \$ 39,791   \$ 41,777     Weighted average common shares outstanding:   | Gross profit                                |                                     | 162 552                                 |    | 137 747        |
| Corporate overhead   (16,990)   (16,424)     Other expense, net   (1,961)   (1,229)     Income from operations   92,072   71,180     Interest expense, net   (30,590)   (6,727)     Income before taxes   61,482   64,453     Provision for income taxes   (21,691)   (22,676)     Net income   \$ 39,791   \$ 41,777     Weighted average common shares outstanding:   |   |                                     | ,                                       |    |                |
| Other expense, net $(1,961)$ $(1,229)$ Income from operations92,07271,180Interest expense, net $(30,590)$ $(6,727)$ Income before taxes $61,482$ $64,453$ Provision for income taxes $(21,691)$ $(22,676)$ Net income\$ 39,791\$ 41,777Weighted average common shares outstanding: $U$ Basic $96,360$ $99,020$ Diluted $97,349$ $100,030$ Net income per common share: $U$ $V$ Basic $96,360$ $90,020$ Diluted $V$ $V$ Diluted $V$ $V$ Dividends declared per common share $V$ $V$ Statement of Comprehensive Income: $V$ $V$ Net income $V$ $39,791$ $V$ He income $V$ $V$ $V$ Statement of Comprehensive Income: $V$ $V$ Net income $V$ $V$ $V$ Reclassification adjustment for cash flow hedges included in net income $(605)$ $(283)$   |   |                                     |   |    |                |
| Income from operations92,07271,180Interest expense, net(30,590)(6,727)Income before taxes61,48264,453Provision for income taxes(21,691)(22,676)Net income\$ 39,791\$ 41,777Weighted average common shares outstanding:<br>Basic96,36099,020Diluted97,349100,030Net income per common share:<br>Basic96,36099,020Diluted97,349100,030Net income per common share:<br>Basic\$ 0.41\$ 0.42Diluted\$ 0.41\$ 0.42Dividends declared per common share\$ 0.25\$ 0.20Statement of Comprehensive Income:<br>   |   |                                     |   |    |                |
| Interest expense, net $(30,590)$ $(6,727)$ Income before taxes $61,482$ $64,453$ Provision for income taxes $(21,691)$ $(22,676)$ Net income $39,791$ $\$$ $41,777$ Weighted average common shares outstanding:<br>Basic96,36099,020Diluted97,349100,030Net income per common share:<br>Basic $\$$ $0.41$ $\$$ Diluted $9,349$ 100,030Net income per common share:<br>Basic $\$$ $0.41$ $\$$ $0.42$ Diluted $\$$ $0.41$ $\$$ $0.42$ Diluted $\$$ $0.41$ $\$$ $0.42$ Dividends declared per common share $\$$ $0.25$ $\$$ $0.20$ Statement of Comprehensive Income:<br>Net income<br>Other comprehensive income (loss), net of tax:<br>Fair value adjustment for cash flow hedges<br>Reclassification adjustment for cash flow hedges included in net income<br>(605) $(223)$  | - ···· ··· F ····· · · ···                  |                                     | (-,, -)                                 |    | (-,/)          |
| Interest expense, net $(30,590)$ $(6,727)$ Income before taxes $61,482$ $64,453$ Provision for income taxes $(21,691)$ $(22,676)$ Net income $39,791$ $\$$ $41,777$ Weighted average common shares outstanding:<br>Basic96,36099,020Diluted97,349100,030Net income per common share:<br>Basic $\$$ $0.41$ $\$$ Diluted $9,349$ 100,030Net income per common share:<br>Basic $\$$ $0.41$ $\$$ $0.42$ Diluted $\$$ $0.41$ $\$$ $0.42$ Diluted $\$$ $0.41$ $\$$ $0.42$ Dividends declared per common share $\$$ $0.25$ $\$$ $0.20$ Statement of Comprehensive Income:<br>Net income<br>Other comprehensive income (loss), net of tax:<br>Fair value adjustment for cash flow hedges<br>Reclassification adjustment for cash flow hedges included in net income<br>(605) $(223)$  | Income from operations                      |                                     | 92.072                                  |    | 71.180         |
| Income before taxes61,482<br>(21,691)64,453<br>(22,676)Net income\$ 39,791\$ 41,777Weighted average common shares outstanding:<br>Basic96,360<br>97,34999,020<br>100,030Diluted97,349100,030Net income per common share:<br>Basic80.41\$ 0.42Diluted\$ 0.41\$ 0.42\$Diluted\$ 0.41\$ 0.42\$Diluted\$ 0.25\$ 0.20\$Statement of Comprehensive Income:<br>Net income\$ 39,791\$ 41,777Other comprehensive income (loss), net of tax:<br>Fair value adjustment for cash flow hedges included in net income\$ (25,468)<br>(283)   |   |                                     | ,                                       |    |                |
| Provision for income taxes(21,691)(22,676)Net income\$ 39,791\$ 41,777Weighted average common shares outstanding:<br>Basic96,36099,020Diluted97,349100,030Net income per common share:<br>Basic\$ 0.41\$ 0.42Diluted\$ 0.41\$ 0.42Diluted\$ 0.41\$ 0.42Diluted\$ 0.25\$ 0.20Statement of Comprehensive Income:<br>Net income\$ 39,791\$ 41,777Other comprehensive income (loss), net of tax:<br>Fair value adjustments to cash flow hedges(25,468)<br>(283)   |   |                                     | (= 0,0 ) 0)                             |    | (*,)           |
| Provision for income taxes(21,691)(22,676)Net income\$ 39,791\$ 41,777Weighted average common shares outstanding:<br>Basic96,36099,020Diluted97,349100,030Net income per common share:<br>Basic90,41\$ 0.42Diluted\$ 0.41\$ 0.42Diluted\$ 0.41\$ 0.42Diluted\$ 0.25\$ 0.20Statement of Comprehensive Income:<br>Net income\$ 39,791\$ 41,777Other comprehensive income (loss), net of tax:<br>Fair value adjustments to cash flow hedges(25,468)<br>(283)   | Income before taxes                         |                                     | 61 482                                  |    | 64 453         |
| Net income\$ 39,791\$ 41,777Weighted average common shares outstanding:<br>Basic96,36099,020Diluted97,349100,030Net income per common share:<br>Basic997,349Basic0.41\$ 0.42Diluted\$ 0.41\$ 0.42Diluted\$ 0.41\$ 0.42Diluted\$ 0.41\$ 0.42Statement of Comprehensive Income:<br>Net income (loss), net of tax:<br>Fair value adjustment for cash flow hedges included in net income\$ 39,791\$ 41,777Cher comprehensive income (loss), net of tax:<br>Fair value adjustment for cash flow hedges included in net income(605)(283)  |   |                                     |   |    |                |
| Weighted average common shares outstanding:Basic96,36099,020Diluted97,349100,030Net income per common share:96,36099,020Basic\$0.41\$0.42Diluted\$0.41\$0.42Diluted\$0.41\$0.42Dividends declared per common share\$0.25\$0.20Statement of Comprehensive Income:Net income\$39,791\$41,777Other comprehensive income (loss), net of tax::::Fair value adjustments to cash flow hedges:::Reclassification adjustment for cash flow hedges included in net income:::(605)::::   |   |                                     | (, , , , _)                             |    | (,)            |
| Basic   96,360   99,020     Diluted   97,349   100,030     Net income per common share:   30,41   \$0.42     Diluted   \$0.41   \$0.42     Diluted   \$0.41   \$0.42     Diluted   \$0.41   \$0.42     Dividends declared per common share   \$0.25   \$0.20     Statement of Comprehensive Income:     Net income   \$39,791   \$41,777     Other comprehensive income (loss), net of tax:   \$25,468     Fair value adjustments to cash flow hedges included in net income   \$(605)   \$(283)  | Net income                                  | \$                                  | 39,791                                  | \$ | 41,777         |
| Basic96,36099,020Diluted97,349100,030Net income per common share:30.41\$Basic\$0.41\$0.42Diluted\$0.41\$0.42Dividends declared per common share\$0.25\$0.20Statement of Comprehensive Income:Net income\$39,791\$41,777Other comprehensive income (loss), net of tax:525,468)\$Fair value adjustments to cash flow hedges(25,468)\$(283)  | Weighted average common shares outstanding. |                                     |   |    |                |
| Diluted97,349100,030Net income per common share:Basic\$0.41\$0.42Basic\$0.41\$0.42\$0.41\$0.42Diluted\$0.41\$0.42\$0.25\$0.20Statement of Comprehensive Income:Net income\$39,791\$41,777Other comprehensive income (loss), net of tax:\$25,468\$Fair value adjustments to cash flow hedges\$(25,468)\$Reclassification adjustment for cash flow hedges included in net income\$(605)(283)  |   |                                     | 96 360                                  |    | 99.020         |
| Net income per common share:Basic\$ 0.41\$ 0.42Diluted\$ 0.41\$ 0.42Dividends declared per common share\$ 0.25\$ 0.20Statement of Comprehensive Income:\$ 39,791\$ 41,777Net income\$ 39,791\$ 41,777Other comprehensive income (loss), net of tax:\$ 25,468Fair value adjustments to cash flow hedges included in net income\$ (605)(283)  |   |                                     |   |    |                |
| Basic\$0.41\$0.42Diluted\$0.41\$0.42Dividends declared per common share\$0.25\$0.20Statement of Comprehensive Income:<br>Net income\$39,791\$41,777Other comprehensive income (loss), net of tax:<br>Fair value adjustments to cash flow hedges(25,468)(25,468)Reclassification adjustment for cash flow hedges included in net income(605)(283)  |   |                                     | ,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,, |    |                |
| Diluted\$0.41\$0.42Dividends declared per common share\$0.25\$0.20Statement of Comprehensive Income:<br>Net income\$39,791\$41,777Other comprehensive income (loss), net of tax:<br>Fair value adjustments to cash flow hedges(25,468)(25,468)Reclassification adjustment for cash flow hedges included in net income(605)(283)   | -   | \$                                  | 0.41                                    | \$ | 0.42           |
| Dividends declared per common share\$ 0.25\$ 0.20Statement of Comprehensive Income:\$ 39,791\$ 41,777Net income\$ 39,791\$ 41,777Other comprehensive income (loss), net of tax:   |   | ·                                   |   |    |                |
| Dividends declared per common share\$ 0.25\$ 0.20Statement of Comprehensive Income:Net income\$ 39,791\$ 41,777Other comprehensive income (loss), net of tax:   | Diluted                                     | \$                                  | 0.41                                    | \$ | 0.42           |
| Statement of Comprehensive Income:\$ 39,791\$ 41,777Net income\$ 39,791\$ 41,777Other comprehensive income (loss), net of tax:\$ 25,468Fair value adjustments to cash flow hedges(25,468)Reclassification adjustment for cash flow hedges included in net income(605)(283)  |   | Ψ                                   | 0.11                                    | Ψ  | 0.12           |
| Statement of Comprehensive Income:\$ 39,791\$ 41,777Net income\$ 39,791\$ 41,777Other comprehensive income (loss), net of tax:\$ 25,468Fair value adjustments to cash flow hedges(25,468)Reclassification adjustment for cash flow hedges included in net income(605)(283)  | Dividends declared per common share         | \$                                  | 0.25                                    | \$ | 0.20           |
| Net income\$ 39,791\$ 41,777Other comprehensive income (loss), net of tax:<br>Fair value adjustments to cash flow hedges(25,468)Reclassification adjustment for cash flow hedges included in net income(605)(283)   |   | Ψ                                   | 0.25                                    | ψ  | 0.20           |
| Net income\$ 39,791\$ 41,777Other comprehensive income (loss), net of tax:<br>Fair value adjustments to cash flow hedges(25,468)Reclassification adjustment for cash flow hedges included in net income(605)(283)   | Statement of Comprehensive Income           |                                     |   |    |                |
| Other comprehensive income (loss), net of tax:(25,468)Fair value adjustments to cash flow hedges included in net income(605)Reclassification adjustment for cash flow hedges included in net income(605)  | -   | \$                                  | 30 701                                  | \$ | <i>A</i> 1 777 |
| Fair value adjustments to cash flow hedges(25,468)Reclassification adjustment for cash flow hedges included in net income(605)(283)   |   | Ψ                                   | 57,771                                  | Ψ  | 71,777         |
| Reclassification adjustment for cash flow hedges included in net income (605) (283)   |   |                                     |   |    | (25,468)       |
|   |   |                                     | (605)                                   |    |                |
|   |   |                                     |   |    |                |
|   | r   |                                     | ,                                       |    |                |
| Other comprehensive income (loss) 1,067 (24,800)  | Other comprehensive income (loss)           |                                     | 1,067                                   |    | (24,800)       |
|   |   |                                     | 10.077                                  |    |                |
| Comprehensive income \$ 40,858 \$ 16,977  | Comprehensive income                        | \$                                  | 40,858                                  | \$ | 16,977         |

#### **Packaging Corporation of America**

#### Condensed Consolidated Statements of Income and Comprehensive Income

#### (Unaudited)

|  |    | Nine Months Ended<br>September 30, |    |   |
|--|----|------------------------------------|----|---|
|  |    | 2012                               |    | 2011                                    |
| (In thousands, except per share amounts)   |    |                                    |    |   |
| Statement of Income:   | ¢  | 2 107 209                          | ¢  | 1 065 905                               |
| Net sales<br>Cost of sales   |    | 2,107,298                          |    | 1,965,805<br>1,558,016)                 |
| Cost of sales  | (  | 1,041,019)                         | (  | 1,556,010)                              |
| Gross profit   |    | 465.679                            |    | 407,789                                 |
| Selling and administrative expenses  |    | (156,339)                          |    | (145,058)                               |
| Corporate overhead   |    | (150,559)                          |    | (48,329)                                |
| Alternative fuel mixture credits   |    | 95,500                             |    | (10,527)                                |
| Other expense, net   |    | (8,186)                            |    | (9,460)                                 |
| ······································   |    | (0,000)                            |    | (,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,, |
| Income from operations   |    | 345,040                            |    | 204,942                                 |
| Interest expense, net  |    | (53,529)                           |    | (19,951)                                |
|  |    | (                                  |    | ( - ) )                                 |
| Income before taxes  |    | 291,511                            |    | 184,991                                 |
| Provision for income taxes   |    | (188,722)                          |    | (66,429)                                |
|  |    | (                                  |    | ()                                      |
| Net income   | \$ | 102,789                            | \$ | 118,562                                 |
|  |    | - ,                                |    | - )                                     |
| Weighted average common shares outstanding:  |    |                                    |    |   |
| Basic  |    | 96,408                             |    | 99,945                                  |
| Diluted  |    | 97,520                             |    | 101,030                                 |
| Net income per common share:   |    |                                    |    |   |
| Basic  | \$ | 1.07                               | \$ | 1.19                                    |
|  |    |                                    |    |   |
| Diluted  | \$ | 1.05                               | \$ | 1.17                                    |
|  |    |                                    |    |   |
| Dividends declared per common share  | \$ | 0.75                               | \$ | 0.60                                    |
|  |    |                                    |    |   |
| Statement of Comprehensive Income:   |    |                                    |    |   |
| Net income   | \$ | 102,789                            | \$ | 118,562                                 |
| Other comprehensive income (loss), net of tax:   |    |                                    |    |   |
| Fair value adjustments to cash flow hedges   |    | (10,183)                           |    | (19,746)                                |
| Reclassification adjustment for cash flow hedges included in net income                |    | 977                                |    | (846)                                   |
| Amortization of pension and postretirement plans actuarial loss and prior service cost |    | 5,016                              |    | 2,853                                   |
|  |    |                                    |    |   |
| Other comprehensive loss   |    | (4,190)                            |    | (17,739)                                |
|  |    |                                    |    |   |
| Comprehensive income   | \$ | 98,599                             | \$ | 100,823                                 |
|  |    |                                    |    |   |

#### **Packaging Corporation of America**

#### **Condensed Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows**

#### (Unaudited)

| 2012     2011       Cash Flows from Operating Activities:        Net income     \$ 102,789     \$ 118,562       Adjustments to reconcile net income to net cash provided by operating activities:         Depreciation, depletion and amortization     127,994     121,033       Amortization of francing costs     912     361       Amortization of francing costs     912     361       Amortization of francing costs     121,434     (1,385)       Amortization of francing costs     13445     21,377       Cellulosic biofuel producer credit reduction     142,251        Idernative fuel mixture credits     (2,436)        Loss on adiposatis of property, plant and equipment     4,668     .6970       Uber, net     (3,344)     (3,752)       Charges in operating assets and liabilities, excluding effects of acquisitions:         Increase in assets     (48,571)     (1,146)       Prepaid expenses and other current assets     (88,571)     (2,2474)       Accounts payable     (10,650)     22,474       Accounds payable     (10,650)     (2,474) <th></th> <th>Nine Mon<br/>Septem</th> <th></th>  |   | Nine Mon<br>Septem |            |
|---|---|--------------------|------------|
| Cash Irows from Operating Activities:     S     102,789     S     118,562       Adjustments to reconcile net income to net cash provided by operating activities:     127,994     121,033       Amortization of financing costs     912     361       Amotrization of financing costs     1574     (1,385)       Share-based compensation expense     8,477     7,191       Deferred income tax provision     31,445     21,377       Cellulosis biofuel producer credit reduction     142,251     142,251       Loss on disposals of property, plant and equipment     4,668     6,970       Loss on early extinguishment of debt     21,296     21,296       Changes in operating assets and liabilities, excluding effects of acquisitions:     1,775     2,619       Increase in assets     (4,217)     (1,346)     1,752       Prepaid expenses and other current assets     (4,217)     (1,346)       Accounts receivable     (10,650)     22,474       Accread liabilities     (30,048)     (12,648)       Net cash provided by operating activities     (35,393)     (35,643)       Accread inabilities     (35,393)     (35,643)  <                            |   |                    | /          |
| Net income   \$ 102,789   \$ 118,562     Adjustments to reconcile net income to net cash provided by operating activities:   127,994   121.033     Amotrization of financing costs   912   361     Amotrization of net loss on treasury lock.   1.574   (1,385)     Share-based compensation expense   8.477   7.191     Deferred income tax provision   31.445   21.377     Callulosic biofuel producer credit reduction   142.251   1     Alternative fuel mixture credits   (72,436)   0     Loss on disposals of property, plant and equipment   4.668   6.970     Loss on early exiting uishment of debt   21.296   1     Pension and postretirement benefits   (7,775)   2.619     Other, net   (3,354)   (3,752)     Charges in operating assets and liabilities, excluding effects of acquisitions:   1   1     Increase in assets   (8,587)   (5,269)   1     Accounts receivable   (30,248)   (12,644)     Net cash provided by operating activities   251,811   236,817     Cash Flows from Investing Activities:   1   25   427     Additions to property, plant an   |   |                    |            |
| Adjustments to reconcile net income to net cash provided by operating activities:   127.994   121.033     Depreciation, depletion and amortization   127.994   361     Amortization of financing costs   912   361     Amotization of net loss on treasury lock   1.574   (1,385)     Share-based compensation expense   8.477   7,191     Deferred income tax provision   31.445   21,377     Cellulosic biofuler producer cedit reduction   142.251     Alternative fuel mixture credit reduction   4.668   6.970     Loss on disposals of property, plant and equipment   4.668   6.970     Loss on disposals of property, plant and equipment   (3.354)   (3.752)     Charges in operating assets and liabilities, excluding effects of acquisitions:   Increase in assets   Accounts receivable   (52.528)   (39.374)     Inventories   (4.217)   (1,453)   (52.69)   Increase (decrease) in liabilities   Accounts receivable   (10.650)   22.474     Accrued liabilities   (30.048)   (12.644)   YAccrued liabilities   (30.048)   (12.644)     Net cash provided by operating activities   (35.433)   (35.643)   (35.643)   (35.643)                            |   |                    |            |
| Depresizion, depletion and amortization     121,934     121,033       Amortization of financing costs     912     361       Amortization of net loss on treasury lock     1,574     (1,385)       Share-based compensation expense     8,477     7,191       Deferred income tax provision     31,445     21,377       Cellulosic biofuel producer credit reduction     142,251     1       Alternative fuel mixture credits     (72,436)     2,296       Loss on disposals of property, plant and equipment     4,668     6,970       Loss on carly extinguishment of debt     21,296     2       Pension and postretirement benefits     (7,775)     2,619       Other, net     (3,354)     (3,752)       Changes in operating assets and liabilities, excluding effects of acquisitions:     1     1       Increase in assets     (4,217)     (1,346)       Prepaid expenses and other current assets     (4,8587)     (5,269)       Increase (decrease) in liabilities     (30,048)     (21,493)       Accounts payable     (10,650)     22,474       Accounts payable     (10,650)     22,817       Cash F   |   | \$ 102,789         | \$ 118,562 |
| Amortization of financing costs     912     361       Amortization of net loss on treasury lock     1,574     (1,385)       Amortization of net loss on treasury lock     8,477     7,191       Deferred income tax provision     31,445     21,377       Cellulosis bioincel producer credit reduction     142,251       Alternative fuel mixture credit     (72,436)       Loss on disposals of property, plant and equipment     4,668     6,970       Loss on disposals of property, plant and equipment     21,296     (7,775)     2,619       Other, net     (3,354)     (3,752)     (7,775)     2,619       Other, net     (3,354)     (3,752)     (7,775)     2,619       Increase in assets     (4,217)     (1,346)     (1,247)       Increase (decrease) in liabilities, excluding effects of acquisitions:     Increase (decrease) in liabilities     (3,048)     (12,644)       Prepaid expenses and other current assets     (3,048)     (12,644)     (24,644)       Net cash provided by operating activities:     25,1811     236,817       Case Flows from Investing Activities:     25,427     2427       Additions to property,                       | 5 1 51 6  |                    |            |
| Amorization of net loss on treasury lock   1.574   (1.385)     Share-based compensation expense   8.477   7.191     Deferred income tax provision   31.445   21.377     Cellulosic biofuel producer credit reduction   142.251   142.251     Loss on disposals of property, plant and equipment   4.668   6.970     Loss on early extinguishment of debt   21.296   150     Pension and postretirement benefits   (7.775)   2.619     Other, net   (3.354)   (3.522)     Changes in operating assets and liabilities, excluding effects of acquisitions:   11.242   11.2436     Increase (assets)   (4.217)   (1.146)   12.440     Prepaid expenses and other current assets   (4.217)   (1.146)     Increase (crease) in liabilities   (3.048)   (12.644)     Net cash provided by operating activities   251.811   236.817     Cash Flows from Investing Activities:   25.323   33.333   35.6433     Acquisitions of businesses   (35.393)   (35.6433)   36.3543     Additions to other long term asets   (1.181)   (10.973)     Proceeds from disposals of property, plant and equipment   25  |   | ,                  | · · · · ·  |
| Share-based compensation expense   8,477   7,191     Deferred income tax provision   31,445   21,377     Cellulosic biofuel producer credit reduction   142,251     Alternative fuel mixture credits   (72,436)     Loss on disposals of property, plant and equipment   4,668     Loss on disposals of property splant and equipment   (3,354)     Other, net   (3,354)     Increase in assets   (4,217)     Accounts receivable   (52,528)     Inventories   (4,217)     Prepaid expenses and other current assets   (8,587)     Accounts receivable   (10,650)   22,474     Accruct liabilities   (30,048)   (12,644)     Net cash provided by operating activities   (3,394)   (214,958)     Treasury grant proceeds   57,399   420   (214,958)     Additions to rober long term assets   (1,181)   (10,973)     Proceeds from disposals of property, plant and equipment   25   427     Net cash used for investing activities   (35,303)   (35,454)     Oreads from disposals of property, plant and equipment   25   427     Net cash used for investing activities   (73,5  |   |                    |            |
| Deferred income tax provision   31,445   21,377     Cellulosic biofuel producer credit reduction   142,251     Atternative fuel mixture credits   (72,436)     Loss on disposals of property, plant and equipment   4,668   6,970     Loss on early extinguishment of debt   21,296   Pension and postretirement benefits   (7,775)   2,619     Other, net   (3,354)   (3,522)   (39,374)     Increase in assets   (4,217)   (1,346)     Accounts receivable   (52,528)   (39,374)     Inventories   (4,217)   (1,346)     Increase in assets   (8,587)   (5,269)     Increase (decrease) in liabilities   (30,048)   (12,644)     Net cash provided by operating activities   (35,393)   (35,643)     Additions to property, plant and equipment   (94,396)   (214,958)     Treasury grant proceeds   57,399   Accuits provided by operating activities   (35,643)     Additions to other long term assets   (1,181)   (10,073)     Proceeds from disposals of property, plant and equipment   25   427     Net cash used for investing activities:   (73,546)   (261,147)     <   |   | /= ·               |            |
| Cellulosic biofuel producer credit reduction   142.251     Alternative fuel mixture credits   (72,436)     Loss on disposals of property, plant and equipment   4,668   6,970     Loss on disposals of property, plant and equipment   21,296   Pension and postretirement benefits   (7,775)   2,619     Pension and postretirement benefits   (7,775)   2,619   (3,554)   (3,752)     Charges in operating assets and liabilities, excluding effects of acquisitions:   Increase in assets   (4,217)   (1,346)     Prepaid expenses and other current assets   (4,217)   (1,346)   Prepaid expenses and other current assets   (8,587)   (5,269)     Accounts payabe   (10,650)   22,474   Accound liabilities  |   | -,                 | . , .      |
| Alternative fuel miture credits   (72,436)     Loss on disposals of property, plant and equipment   4,668   6,970     Loss on early extinguishment of debt   21,296     Pension and postretirement benefits   (7,775)   2,619     Other, net   (7,775)   2,619     Changes in operating assets and liabilities, excluding effects of acquisitions:   (7,775)   (7,75)     Increase in assets   (4,217)   (1,346)     Accounts receivable   (65,2528)   (39,374)     Increase (crease) in liabilities   (8,877)   (5,269)     Increase (crease) in liabilities   (10,650)   22,474     Accrued liabilities   (10,650)   22,474     Accrued liabilities   (30,048)   (12,644)     Net cash provided by operating activities   251,811   236,817     Cash Flows from Investing Activities:   24,245   253,393   (35,643)     Additions to property, plant and equipment   25   427     Net cash used for investing activities   (73,546)   (261,147)     Proceeds from disposals of property, plant and equipment   25   427     Net cash used for investing activities   (433,202)   (498) </td <td></td> <td></td> <td>21,377</td>                                       |   |                    | 21,377     |
| Loss on disposals of property, plant and equipment     4,668     6,970       Loss on early extinguishment of det     21,296       Pension and postretirement benefits     (7,775)     2.619       Other, net     (3,354)     (3,752)       Increase in assets     (4,217)     (1,346)       Accounts receivable     (52,528)     (39,374)       Inventories     (4,217)     (1,346)       Prepaid expenses and other current assets     (4,217)     (1,346)       Accounts receivable     (10,650)     22,474       Accrued liabilities     (30,048)     (12,644)       Net cash provided by operating activities     251,811     236,817       Cash Flows from Investing Activities:     4     4       Acquisitions of businesses     (33,393)     (35,643)       Additions to other long term asets     (1,181)     (10,973)       Proceeds from disposals of property, plant and equipment     25     427       Net cash used for investing activities     (73,546)     (261,147)       Cash Flows from Financing Activities:     (73,546)     (261,147)       Proceeds from disposals of property, plant and equipment </td <td></td> <td></td> <td></td>           |   |                    |            |
| Loss on early extinguishment of debt     21,296       Pension and postretirement benefits     (7,775)     2,619       Other, net     (3,354)     (3,552)       Changes in operating assets and liabilities, excluding effects of acquisitions:     Increase     (3,252)       Increase in assets     (4,217)     (1,346)       Accounts receivable     (52,528)     (39,374)       Increase (decrease) in liabilities     (8,587)     (5,269)       Increase (decrease) in liabilities     (10,650)     22,474       Accounts payable     (10,650)     22,474       Accrued liabilities     (30,048)     (12,644)       Net cash provided by operating activities     251,811     236,817       Cash Flows from Investing Activities:     251,811     236,817       Additions to property, plant and equipment     (94,396)     (214,958)       Treasury grant proceeds     57,399     4       Acquisitions of busineses     (35,543)     (35,643)       Additions to other long term assets     (1,181)     (10,973)       Proceeds from disposals of property, plant and equipment     25     427       Net cash used for   |   |                    |            |
| Pension and postretirement benefits     (7,775)     2,619       Other, net     (3,354)     (3,752)       Changes in operating assets and liabilities, excluding effects of acquisitions:     Increase in assets       Accounts receivable     (52,528)     (39,374)       Inventories     (4,217)     (1,346)       Prepaid expenses and other current assets     (8,587)     (5,269)       Increase (decrease) in liabilities     (10,650)     22,474       Accounts payable     (10,650)     22,474       Accrued liabilities     (30,048)     (12,644)       Net cash provided by operating activities     (35,393)     (35,643)       Additions to property, plant and equipment     (94,396)     (214,958)       Treasury grant proceeds     57,399     Acquisitions of businesses     (35,393)     (35,643)       Additions to other long term assets     (1,181)     (10,973)     Proceeds from disposals of property, plant and equipment     25     427       Net cash used for investing activities:     (73,546)     (261,147)     Cash Flows from Financing Activities:     (73,546)     (261,147)       Cash Flows from Financing Activities:     (73,546) |   | ,                  | 6,970      |
| Other, net     (3,354)     (3,752)       Changes in operating assets and liabilities, excluding effects of acquisitions:     Increase in assets     Increase in assets       Accounts receivable     (52,528)     (39,374)       Inventories     (4,217)     (1,346)       Prepaid expenses and other current assets     (8,587)     (5,269)       Increase (decrease) in liabilities     (10,650)     22,474       Accrued liabilities     (30,048)     (12,644)       Net cash provided by operating activities     251,811     236,817       Cash Flows from Investing Activities:     251,811     236,817       Additions to property, plant and equipment     (94,396)     (214,958)       Treasury grant proceeds     57,399     35,643       Additions to other long term assets     (1,181)     (10,073)       Proceeds from disposals of property, plant and equipment     25     427       Net cash used for investing activities:     (33,202)     (498)       Proceeds from disposals of property, plant and equipment     25     427       Net cash used for investing activities:     (34,33,202)     (498)       Proceeds from long-term debt            |   |                    |            |
| Changes in operating assets and liabilities, excluding effects of acquisitions:IncreaseIncrease in assets(52,528)(39,374)Accounts receivable(4,217)(1,346)Prepaid expenses and other current assets(8,587)(5,269)Increase (decrease) in liabilities(30,048)(12,644)Accounts payable(10,650)22,474Accrued liabilities(30,048)(12,644)Net cash provided by operating activities251,811236,817Cash Flows from Investing Activities:(35,393)(35,643)Additions to property, plant and equipment(94,396)(214,958)Treasury grant proceeds57,399(35,643)Additions of businesses(35,393)(35,643)Additions of property, plant and equipment25427Net cash used for investing activities:(73,546)(261,147)Cash Flows from Financing Activities:(73,546)(261,147)Cash Flows from Financing Activities:(33,202)(498)Proceeds from long-term debt(397,044297,044Payments on long-term debt(32,02)(498)Financing costs paid(821)Settlement of treasury lock(65,500)Common stock dividends paid(65,500)9,910Common stock dividends paid(65,503)9,910Common stock dividends paid(61,224)(93,425)Proceeds from exercise of stock options16,1216,870  |   |                    | ,          |
| Increase in assets   (52,528)   (39,374)     Accounts receivable   (4,217)   (1,346)     Inventories   (8,587)   (5,269)     Increase (decrease) in liabilities   (10,650)   22,474     Accounts payable   (10,650)   22,474     Accrued liabilities   (30,048)   (12,644)     Net cash provided by operating activities   251,811   236,817     Cash Flows from Investing Activities:   251,811   236,817     Additions to property, plant and equipment   (94,396)   (214,958)     Treasury grant proceeds   57,399   Acquisitions of businesses   (35,633)     Additions to ther long term assets   (11,181)   (10,073)     Proceeds from disposals of property, plant and equipment   25   427     Net cash used for investing activities:   (73,546)   (261,147)     Cash Flows from Financing Activities:   73,546)   (261,147)     Proceeds from long-term debt   397,044   939,044     Payments on long-term debt   (433,202)   (498)     Financing costs paid   (821)   5418     Settlement of treasury lock   (65,500)   9,910  | Other, net  | (3,354)            | (3,752)    |
| Accounts receivable   (52,528)   (39,374)     Inventories   (4,217)   (1,346)     Prepaid expenses and other current assets   (8,587)   (5,269)     Increase (decrease) in liabilities   (10,650)   22,474     Accounts payable   (10,650)   22,474     Accrued liabilities   (30,048)   (12,644)     Net cash provided by operating activities:   (214,958)     Cash Flows from Investing Activities:   (35,393)   (35,643)     Additions to property, plant and equipment   (94,396)   (214,958)     Treasury grant proceeds   57,399   (35,643)     Acquisitions of businesses   (35,593)   (35,643)     Additions to other long term assets   (1,181)   (10,973)     Proceeds from disposals of property, plant and equipment   25   427     Net cash used for investing activities:   (73,546)   (261,147)     Cash Flows from Financing Activities:   (433,202)   (498)     Proceeds from long-term debt   397,044   939,044     Payments on long-term debt   (433,202)   (498)     Financing costs paid   (821)   561,001     Settlement of treasury   | Changes in operating assets and liabilities, excluding effects of acquisitions: |                    |            |
| Inventories     (4,217)     (1,346)       Prepaid expenses and other current assets     (8,587)     (5,269)       Increase (decrease) in liabilities     (10,650)     22,474       Accounts payable     (10,650)     22,474       Accrued liabilities     (30,048)     (12,644)       Net cash provided by operating activities     (214,958)     (214,958)       Cash Flows from Investing Activities:     (33,393)     (35,643)       Additions to property, plant and equipment     (94,396)     (214,958)       Treasury grant proceeds     57,399     (11,81)     (10,973)       Acquisitions to other long term assets     (1,181)     (10,973)     (11,81)     (10,973)       Proceeds from disposals of property, plant and equipment     25     427       Net cash used for investing activities     (73,546)     (261,147)       Cash Flows from Financing Activities:     7     7       Proceeds from long-term debt     397,044     9       Payments on long-term debt     (433,202)     (498)       Financing costs paid     (821)     16       Settlement of treasury lock     (65,500)   | Increase in assets  |                    |            |
| Prepaid expenses and other current assets     (8,587)     (5,269)       Increase (decrease) in liabilities     (10,650)     22,474       Accounts payable     (10,650)     22,474       Accrued liabilities     (30,048)     (12,644)       Net cash provided by operating activities     251,811     236,817       Cash Flows from Investing Activities:     (94,396)     (214,958)       Treasury grant proceeds     57,399     (10,670)     25,433       Additions to property, plant and equipment     (94,396)     (214,958)       Treasury grant proceeds     57,399     (11,181)     (10,973)       Acquisitions of businesses     (11,181)     (10,973)       Proceeds from disposals of property, plant and equipment     25     427       Net cash used for investing activities     (73,546)     (261,147)       Cash Flows from Financing Activities:     77     704       Payments on long-term debt     397,044     Payments on long-term debt     (821)       Settlement of treasury lock     (65,500)     9,910     (50,00)     9,910       Common stock dividends paid     (68,776)     (55,050)     9   | Accounts receivable   | (52,528)           | (39,374)   |
| Increase (decrease) in liabilities     Accounts payable   (10,650)   22,474     Accrued liabilities   (30,048)   (12,644)     Net cash provided by operating activities   251,811   236,817     Cash Flows from Investing Activities:   244,936   (214,958)     Acquisitions to property, plant and equipment   (94,396)   (214,958)     Treasury grant proceeds   57,399   35,643)     Additions to bother long term assets   (11,181)   (10,973)     Proceeds from disposals of property, plant and equipment   25   427     Net cash used for investing activities   (73,546)   (261,147)     Proceeds from long-term debt   397,044   943,202)   (498)     Proceeds from long-term debt   (433,202)   (498)     Financing costs paid   (821)   51,211     Settlement of treasury lock   (65,500)   9,910     Common stock dividends paid   (68,776)   (56,053)     Repurchases of common stock   (41,524)   (93,425)     Proceeds from exercise of stock options   16,121   6,870   | Inventories   | (4,217)            |            |
| Accounts payable(10,650)22,474Accrued liabilities(30,048)(12,644)Net cash provided by operating activities251,811236,817Cash Flows from Investing Activities:(94,396)(214,958)Treasury grant proceeds57,399(214,958)Acquisitions of businesses(35,393)(35,643)Additions to other long term asets(11,181)(10,973)Proceeds from disposals of property, plant and equipment25427Net cash used for investing activities(73,546)(261,147)Proceeds from long-term debt(433,202)(498)Financing costs paid(821)(821)Settement of treasury lock(65,500)9,910Common stock divideds paid(68,776)(56,053)Proceeds from exercise of stock options16,1216,870   | Prepaid expenses and other current assets                                       | (8,587)            | (5,269)    |
| Accrued liabilities(30,048)(12,644)Net cash provided by operating activities251,811236,817Cash Flows from Investing Activities:(94,396)(214,958)Additions to property, plant and equipment(94,396)(214,958)Treasury grant proceeds57,399(35,643)Acquisitions of businesses(1,181)(10,973)Proceeds from disposals of property, plant and equipment25427Net cash used for investing activities(73,546)(261,147)Cash Flows from Financing Activities:(261,147)Proceeds from long-term debt397,044Payments on long-term debt(433,202)(498)Financing costs paid(821)Settlement of treasury lock(65,500)9,910Common stock dividends paid(68,776)(56,053)Repurchases of common stock(41,524)(93,425)Proceeds from exercise of stock options(16,121)(68,70  | Increase (decrease) in liabilities  |                    |            |
| Net cash provided by operating activities251,811236,817Cash Flows from Investing Activities:994,396)(214,958)Additions to property, plant and equipment(94,396)(214,958)Treasury grant proceeds57,39935,643)Acquisitions of businesses(35,393)(35,643)Additions to other long term assets(1,181)(10,973)Proceeds from disposals of property, plant and equipment25427Net cash used for investing activities(73,546)(261,147)Cash Flows from Financing Activities:(73,546)(261,147)Proceeds from long-term debt397,044397,044Payments on long-term debt(433,202)(498)Financing costs paid(821)5Settlement of treasury lock(65,500)9,910Common stock dividends paid(68,776)(56,053)Repurchases of common stock(41,524)(93,425)Proceeds from exercise of stock options16,1216,870  | Accounts payable  | (10,650)           | 22,474     |
| Cash Flows from Investing Activities:Additions to property, plant and equipment(94,396)(214,958)Treasury grant proceeds57,399Acquisitions of businesses(35,393)(35,643)Additions to other long term assets(1,181)(10,973)Proceeds from disposals of property, plant and equipment25427Net cash used for investing activities(73,546)(261,147)Cash Flows from Financing Activities:(73,546)(261,147)Proceeds from long-term debt397,044Payments on long-term debt(433,202)(498)Financing costs paid(821)Settlement of treasury lock(65,500)9,910Common stock dividends paid(68,776)(56,053)Repurchases of common stock(41,524)(93,425)Proceeds from exercise of stock options16,1216,870   | Accrued liabilities   | (30,048)           | (12,644)   |
| Additions to property, plant and equipment $(94,396)$ $(214,958)$ Treasury grant proceeds $57,399$ Acquisitions of businesses $(35,393)$ $(35,643)$ Additions to other long term assets $(1,181)$ $(10,973)$ Proceeds from disposals of property, plant and equipment $25$ $427$ Net cash used for investing activities(73,546) $(261,147)$ Cash Flows from Financing Activities:Proceeds from long-term debt $397,044$ Payments on long-term debt $(433,202)$ $(498)$ Financing costs paid $(821)$ (821)Settlement of treasury lock $(65,500)$ $9,910$ Common stock dividends paid $(68,776)$ $(56,053)$ Repurchases of common stock $(41,524)$ $(93,425)$ Proceeds from exercise of stock options $16,121$ $6,870$  | Net cash provided by operating activities                                       | 251,811            | 236,817    |
| Additions to property, plant and equipment $(94,396)$ $(214,958)$ Treasury grant proceeds $57,399$ Acquisitions of businesses $(35,393)$ $(35,643)$ Additions to other long term assets $(1,181)$ $(10,973)$ Proceeds from disposals of property, plant and equipment $25$ $427$ Net cash used for investing activities(73,546) $(261,147)$ Cash Flows from Financing Activities:Proceeds from long-term debt $397,044$ Payments on long-term debt $(433,202)$ $(498)$ Financing costs paid $(821)$ (821)Settlement of treasury lock $(65,500)$ $9,910$ Common stock dividends paid $(68,776)$ $(56,053)$ Repurchases of common stock $(41,524)$ $(93,425)$ Proceeds from exercise of stock options $16,121$ $6,870$  | Cash Flows from Investing Activities:   |                    |            |
| Treasury grant proceeds $57,399$ Acquisitions of businesses $(35,393)$ $(35,643)$ Additions to other long term assets $(1,181)$ $(10,973)$ Proceeds from disposals of property, plant and equipment $25$ $427$ Net cash used for investing activities $(73,546)$ $(261,147)$ Cash Flows from Financing Activities: $(73,546)$ $(261,147)$ Proceeds from long-term debt $397,044$ Payments on long-term debt $(433,202)$ $(498)$ Financing costs paid $(821)$ Settlement of treasury lock $(65,500)$ $9,910$ Common stock dividends paid $(68,776)$ $(56,053)$ Repurchases of common stock $(41,524)$ $(93,425)$ Proceeds from exercise of stock options $16,121$ $6,870$  |   | (94,396)           | (214,958)  |
| Acquisitions of businesses $(35,393)$ $(35,643)$ Additions to other long term assets $(1,181)$ $(10,973)$ Proceeds from disposals of property, plant and equipment $25$ $427$ Net cash used for investing activities $(73,546)$ $(261,147)$ Cash Flows from Financing Activities: $(73,546)$ $(261,147)$ Proceeds from long-term debt $397,044$ Payments on long-term debt $(433,202)$ $(498)$ Financing costs paid $(821)$ Settlement of treasury lock $(65,500)$ $9,910$ Common stock dividends paid $(68,776)$ $(56,053)$ Repurchases of common stock $(41,524)$ $(93,425)$ Proceeds from exercise of stock options $16,121$ $6,870$   |   | 57,399             |            |
| Proceeds from disposals of property, plant and equipment25427Net cash used for investing activities(73,546)(261,147)Cash Flows from Financing Activities:97,044Proceeds from long-term debt397,044Payments on long-term debt(433,202)(498)Financing costs paid(821)Settlement of treasury lock(65,500)9,910Common stock dividends paid(68,776)(56,053)Repurchases of common stock(41,524)(93,425)Proceeds from exercise of stock options16,1216,870   |   | (35,393)           | (35,643)   |
| Proceeds from disposals of property, plant and equipment25427Net cash used for investing activities(73,546)(261,147)Cash Flows from Financing Activities:97,044Proceeds from long-term debt397,044Payments on long-term debt(433,202)(498)Financing costs paid(821)Settlement of treasury lock(65,500)9,910Common stock dividends paid(68,776)(56,053)Repurchases of common stock(41,524)(93,425)Proceeds from exercise of stock options16,1216,870   | Additions to other long term assets   | (1,181)            | (10,973)   |
| Cash Flows from Financing Activities:Proceeds from long-term debt397,044Payments on long-term debt(433,202)Financing costs paid(821)Settlement of treasury lock(65,500)Common stock dividends paid(68,776)Common stock dividends paid(41,524)Proceeds from exercise of stock options16,1216,8706,870  |   | 25                 | 427        |
| Proceeds from long-term debt     397,044       Payments on long-term debt     (433,202)     (498)       Financing costs paid     (821)     (821)       Settlement of treasury lock     (65,500)     9,910       Common stock dividends paid     (68,776)     (56,053)       Repurchases of common stock     (41,524)     (93,425)       Proceeds from exercise of stock options     16,121     6,870  | Net cash used for investing activities  | (73,546)           | (261,147)  |
| Payments on long-term debt     (433,202)     (498)       Financing costs paid     (821)       Settlement of treasury lock     (65,500)     9,910       Common stock dividends paid     (68,776)     (56,053)       Repurchases of common stock     (41,524)     (93,425)       Proceeds from exercise of stock options     16,121     6,870   | Cash Flows from Financing Activities:   |                    |            |
| Financing costs paid     (821)       Settlement of treasury lock     (65,500)     9,910       Common stock dividends paid     (68,776)     (56,053)       Repurchases of common stock     (41,524)     (93,425)       Proceeds from exercise of stock options     16,121     6,870  |   | 397,044            |            |
| Settlement of treasury lock     (65,500)     9,910       Common stock dividends paid     (68,776)     (56,053)       Repurchases of common stock     (41,524)     (93,425)       Proceeds from exercise of stock options     16,121     6,870   |   | (433,202)          | (498)      |
| Common stock dividends paid     (68,776)     (56,053)       Repurchases of common stock     (41,524)     (93,425)       Proceeds from exercise of stock options     16,121     6,870  |   | (821)              |            |
| Repurchases of common stock     (41,524)     (93,425)       Proceeds from exercise of stock options     16,121     6,870  | Settlement of treasury lock   | (65,500)           |            |
| Repurchases of common stock     (41,524)     (93,425)       Proceeds from exercise of stock options     16,121     6,870  | Common stock dividends paid   | (68,776)           | (56,053)   |
| •   | Repurchases of common stock   | (41,524)           |            |
| Excess tax benefits from share-based awards 2,986 1,087   | Proceeds from exercise of stock options   | 16,121             | 6,870      |
|   | Excess tax benefits from share-based awards                                     | 2,986              | 1,087      |

## Edgar Filing: PACKAGING CORP OF AMERICA - Form 10-Q

| Net cash used for financing activities         | (193,672)  | (132,109) |
|--|------------|-----------|
| Net decrease in cash and cash equivalents      | (15,407)   | (156,439) |
| Cash and cash equivalents, beginning of period | 156,313    | 196,556   |
| Cash and cash equivalents, end of period       | \$ 140,906 | \$ 40,117 |

#### **Packaging Corporation of America**

#### Notes to Condensed Consolidated Financial Statements

(Unaudited)

September 30, 2012

#### 1. Basis of Presentation

The condensed consolidated financial statements as of September 30, 2012 and 2011 of Packaging Corporation of America (PCA or the Company) and for the three- and nine-month periods then ended are unaudited but include all adjustments (consisting only of normal recurring adjustments) that management considers necessary for a fair presentation of such financial statements. These financial statements have been prepared in accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States for interim financial information and with Article 10 of SEC Regulation S-X. Accordingly, they do not include all of the information and footnotes required by accounting principles generally accepted in the United States for the period ended September 30, 2012 are not necessarily indicative of the results that may be expected for the year ending December 31, 2012. These condensed consolidated financial statements should be read in conjunction with PCA s Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2011.

#### 2. Summary of Accounting Policies

#### **Basis of Consolidation**

The accompanying condensed consolidated financial statements of PCA include all majority-owned subsidiaries. All intercompany transactions have been eliminated. The Company has one joint venture that is accounted for under the equity method.

#### Use of Estimates

The preparation of financial statements in conformity with U.S. generally accepted accounting principles requires management to make estimates and assumptions that affect the amounts in the financial statements and the accompanying notes. Actual results could differ from those estimates.

#### **Revenue Recognition**

The Company recognizes revenue as title to the products is transferred to customers. The cost of shipping and handling products billed to a customer are included in net sales. Shipping and product handling costs not billed to a customer are included in cost of sales. In addition, the Company offers volume rebates to certain of its customers. The cost of these rebates is estimated and accrued as a reduction to net sales at the time of the respective sale.

#### Segment Information

PCA is engaged in one line of business: the integrated manufacture and sale of packaging materials, boxes and containers for industrial and consumer markets. No single customer accounts for more than 10% of total net sales.

#### **Recent Accounting Pronouncements**

In July 2012, the Financial Accounting Standards Board (FASB) issued Accounting Standards Update (ASU) 2012-02, Intangibles Goodwill and Other (Topic 350) Testing Indefinite-Lived Intangible Assets for Impairment. The amendments in this ASU allow an entity to first assess qualitative factors to determine

whether it is necessary to perform a quantitative impairment test. An entity would not be required to calculate the fair value of an indefinite-lived intangible asset unless the entity determines, based on a qualitative assessment, that it is more likely than not that the indefinite-lived intangible asset is impaired. The amendments in this ASU are effective for annual and interim impairment tests performed for fiscal years beginning after September 15, 2012. Early adoption is permitted. The Company will comply with the provisions of ASU 2012-02 upon its adoption on January 1, 2013.

In December 2011, the FASB issued ASU 2011-12, Comprehensive Income (Topic 220) Deferral of the Effective Date for Amendments to the Presentation of Reclassifications of Items Out of Accumulated Other Comprehensive Income in Accounting Standards Update No. 2011-05. This ASU effectively defers only those changes in Update 2011-05 as discussed below that relate to the presentation of reclassification adjustments out of accumulated other comprehensive income and gives the FASB additional time to redeliberate the presentation requirements for reclassification adjustments. The amendments in this ASU are effective for public entities for fiscal years, and interim periods within those years, beginning after December 15, 2011. The Company has complied with the provisions of ASU 2011-12 upon its adoption on January 1, 2012.

In September 2011, the FASB issued ASU 2011-08, Intangibles Goodwill and Other (Topic 350) Testing Goodwill for Impairment, which simplifies how entities test goodwill for impairment. The amendments in this update provide an entity the option to make a qualitative evaluation about the likelihood of goodwill impairment to determine whether it should calculate the fair value of a reporting unit. ASU 2011-08 is effective for annual and interim goodwill impairment tests performed for fiscal years beginning after December 15, 2011. The adoption of this guidance on January 1, 2012 did not impact the Company s financial position, results of operations or cash flows. The Company will complete its annual goodwill impairment test under this new guidance in the fourth quarter of 2012.

In June 2011, the FASB issued ASU 2011-05, Comprehensive Income (Topic 220) Presentation of Comprehensive Income. The amendments in this ASU require that all nonowner changes in stockholders equity be presented either in a single continuous statement of comprehensive income or in two separate but consecutive statements. The provisions in this update should be applied retrospectively and are effective for fiscal years, and interim periods within those years, beginning after December 15, 2011. The Company has complied with the additional provisions of ASU 2011-05 upon its adoption on January 1, 2012. See Condensed Consolidated Statements of Income and Comprehensive Income for additional information.

In May 2011, the FASB issued ASU 2011-04, Fair Value Measurement (Topic 820) Amendments to Achieve Common Fair Value Measurement and Disclosure Requirements in U.S. GAAP and IFRSs. The amendments in this ASU clarify the application of existing fair value measurement and disclosure requirements, which will improve the comparability of fair value measurements presented and disclosed in financial statements prepared in accordance with U.S. GAAP and IFRSs. ASU 2011-04 is effective for interim and annual periods beginning after December 15, 2011. The adoption of this guidance did not have any impact on the Company s financial position, results of operations or cash flows. See Note 11 for additional information.

#### 3. Earnings Per Share

The following table sets forth the computation of basic and diluted income per common share for the periods presented.

|   |           | nths Ended<br>1ber 30, |
|---|-----------|------------------------|
|   | 2012      | 2011                   |
| (In thousands, except per share data)       |           |                        |
| Numerator:                                  |           |                        |
| Net income                                  | \$ 39,791 | \$ 41,777              |
| Denominator:                                |           |                        |
| Basic common shares outstanding             | 96,360    | 99,020                 |
| Effect of dilutive securities:              |           |                        |
| Stock options and unvested restricted stock | 989       | 1,010                  |
|   |           |                        |
| Diluted common shares outstanding           | 97,349    | 100,030                |
|   |           |                        |
| Basic income per common share               | \$ 0.41   | \$ 0.42                |
| Diluted income per common share             | \$ 0.41   | \$ 0.42                |

|   |            | ths Ended<br>ber 30, |
|---|------------|----------------------|
|   | 2012       | 2011                 |
| (In thousands, except per share data)       |            |                      |
| Numerator:                                  |            |                      |
| Net income                                  | \$ 102,789 | \$118,562            |
| Denominator:                                |            |                      |
| Basic common shares outstanding             | 96,408     | 99,945               |
| Effect of dilutive securities:              |            |                      |
| Stock options and unvested restricted stock | 1,112      | 1,085                |
|   |            |                      |
| Diluted common shares outstanding           | 97,520     | 101,030              |
|   |            |                      |
| Basic income per common share               | \$ 1.07    | \$ 1.19              |
| Diluted income per common share             | \$ 1.05    | \$ 1.17              |

Options to purchase 0.2 million shares for the three-month period ended September 30, 2011 were not included in the computation of diluted shares outstanding as their exercise price exceeded the average market price of the Company s common stock for the respective reporting period. All outstanding options to purchase shares for the remaining periods presented were included in the computation of diluted common shares outstanding.

#### 4. Stock-Based Compensation

In October 1999, the Company adopted a long-term equity incentive plan, which allows for grants of stock options, stock appreciation rights, restricted stock and performance awards to directors, officers and employees of PCA, as well as others who engage in services for PCA. Restricted stock awards granted to officers and employees generally vest at the end of a four-year period, and restricted stock awards granted to directors vest immediately. The Company has not granted any option awards since 2007. The plan, which will terminate on October 19, 2014, provides for the issuance of up to 8,550,000 shares of common stock over the life of the plan. As of September 30, 2012, options and restricted stock for 8,043,988 shares have been granted, net of forfeitures. Forfeitures are added back to the pool of shares of common stock available to be granted at a future date.

A summary of the Company s stock option activity and related information follows:

|   | Options   | Weighted-<br>Average<br>Exercise<br>Price | Weighted-<br>Average<br>Remaining<br>Contractual<br>Term (years) | Aggregate<br>Intrinsic<br>Value<br>(In thousands) |
|---|-----------|---|--|---|
| Outstanding at December 31, 2011                  | 1,224,699 | \$ 21.64                                  |  |   |
| Exercised   | (771,809) | 20.88                                     |  |   |
| Forfeited   | (1,250)   | 23.09                                     |  |   |
| Outstanding and exercisable at September 30, 2012 | 451,640   | \$ 22.95                                  | 1.3  | \$ 6,030  |

The total intrinsic value of options exercised during the three months ended September 30, 2012 and 2011 was \$2.6 million and \$0.1 million, respectively, and during the nine months ended September 30, 2012 and 2011 was \$7.0 million and \$2.7 million, respectively. As of September 30, 2012, there is no unrecognized compensation cost related to stock option awards granted under the Company s equity incentive plan as all outstanding awards have vested.

A summary of the Company s restricted stock activity follows:

| (Dollars in thousands)           | 20<br>Shares | 12<br>Fair Market<br>Value at<br>Date of<br>Grant | 20<br>Shares | 11<br>Fair Market<br>Value at<br>Date of<br>Grant |
|----------------------------------|--------------|---|--------------|---|
| Restricted stock at January 1    | 1,817,745    | \$ 40,655   | 1,478,000    | \$ 30,600   |
| Granted                          | 394,928      | 10,846  | 575,694      | 16,005  |
| Vested                           | (405,309)    | (9,185)   | (219,469)    | (5,608)   |
| Cancellations                    | (8,945)      | (188)   | (4,340)      | (96)  |
| Restricted stock at September 30 | 1,798,419    | \$ 42,128   | 1,829,885    | \$ 40,901   |

Compensation expense for restricted stock recognized in the condensed consolidated statements of income for the three- and nine-month periods ended September 30, 2012 and 2011 was as follows:

|                                      |            | Three Months Ended<br>September 30, |            | ths Ended<br>ber 30, |
|--------------------------------------|------------|-------------------------------------|------------|----------------------|
|                                      | 2012       | 2011                                | 2012       | 2011                 |
| (In thousands)                       |            |                                     |            |                      |
| Impact on income before income taxes | \$ (2,746) | \$ (2,487)                          | \$ (8,477) | \$ (7,191)           |
| Income tax benefit                   | 1,068      | 968                                 | 3,296      | 2,798                |
| Impact on net income                 | \$ (1,678) | \$ (1,519)                          | \$ (5,181) | \$ (4,393)           |

The fair value of restricted stock is determined based on the closing price of the Company s common stock on the grant date.

The Company generally recognizes compensation expense associated with restricted stock awards ratably over their vesting periods. As PCA s Board of Directors has the ability to accelerate vesting of restricted stock upon an employee s retirement, the Company accelerates the

### Edgar Filing: PACKAGING CORP OF AMERICA - Form 10-Q

recognition of compensation expense for certain employees approaching normal retirement age. As of September 30, 2012, there was \$24.0 million of total unrecognized compensation costs related to restricted stock awards. The Company expects to recognize the cost of these stock awards over a weighted-average period of 2.7 years.

#### 5. Inventories

The components of inventories are as follows:

| (In thousands)                                | September 30,<br>2012 |          | cember 31,<br>2011<br>Audited) |
|---|-----------------------|----------|--------------------------------|
| Raw materials                                 | \$                    | 124,935  | \$<br>126,489                  |
| Work in process                               |                       | 8,894    | 7,610                          |
| Finished goods                                |                       | 77,494   | 74,391                         |
| Supplies and materials                        |                       | 116,469  | 115,541                        |
| Inventories at FIFO or average cost           |                       | 327,792  | 324,031                        |
| Excess of FIFO or average cost over LIFO cost |                       | (67,020) | (69,356)                       |
| Inventories, net                              | \$                    | 260,772  | \$<br>254,675                  |

An actual valuation of inventory under the LIFO method is made only at the end of each year based on the inventory levels and costs at that time. Accordingly, interim LIFO calculations must necessarily be based on management s estimates of expected year-end inventory levels and costs. Because these are subject to many factors beyond management s control, interim results are subject to the final year-end LIFO inventory valuation.

#### 6. Goodwill and Other Intangible Assets

#### Goodwill

Changes in the carrying amount of goodwill for the period ended September 30, 2012 are as follows:

| (In thousands)                             |           |
|--|-----------|
| Balance as of December 31, 2011            | \$ 58,214 |
| Acquisition                                | 14,098    |
| Adjustments related to purchase accounting | (757)     |
|  |           |
| Balance at September 30, 2012              | \$ 71,555 |

The components of other intangible assets are as follows:

|                               | Weighted<br>Average<br>Life | As of Septe<br>Gross<br>Carrying<br>Amount | Acc | 30, 2012<br>umulated<br>ortization | As of Dece<br>Gross<br>Carrying<br>Amount | Acc     | 1, 2011<br>umulated<br>ortization |
|-------------------------------|-----------------------------|--|-----|------------------------------------|---|---------|-----------------------------------|
| (In thousands)                |                             |  |     |                                    | (Au                                       | udited) |                                   |
| Customer relationships        | 18.2 years                  | \$44,161                                   | \$  | 9,886                              | \$ 32,520                                 | \$      | 7,771                             |
| Other                         | 3.0 years                   | 695  |     | 212                                | 349                                       |         | 56                                |
| Total other intangible assets |                             | \$ 44,856                                  | \$  | 10,098                             | \$ 32,869                                 | \$      | 7,827                             |

See Note 17 for further discussion regarding acquisitions.

#### 7. Employee Benefit Plans and Other Postretirement Benefits

For the three- and nine-month periods ended September 30, 2012 and 2011, net pension costs were comprised of the following:

|   | Enc      | Three Months<br>Ended<br>September 30, |           | Months<br>ded<br>1ber 30, |
|---|----------|--|-----------|---------------------------|
| (In they can do)                                  | 2012     | 2011                                   | 2012      | 2011                      |
| (In thousands)<br>Components of Net Pension Costs |          |  |           |                           |
| Service cost for benefits earned during the year  | \$ 5,606 | \$ 4,952                               | \$ 16,818 | \$ 14,856                 |
| Interest cost on accumulated benefit obligation   | 3,700    | 3,368                                  | 11,100    | 10,105                    |
| Expected return on assets                         | (3,027)  | (3,386)                                | (9,081)   | (10,158)                  |
| Net amortization of unrecognized amounts          |          |  |           |                           |
| Prior service cost                                | 1,498    | 1,446                                  | 4,495     | 4,337                     |
| Actuarial loss                                    | 1,229    | 103                                    | 3,687     | 308                       |
|   |          |  |           |                           |
| Net pension costs                                 | \$ 9,006 | \$ 6,483                               | \$ 27,019 | \$ 19,448                 |

The Company makes pension plan contributions that are sufficient to fund its actuarially determined costs, generally equal to the minimum amounts required by the Employee Retirement Income Security Act (ERISA). However, from time to time the Company may make discretionary contributions in excess of the required minimum amounts. The Company contributed \$35.9 million to the pension plans through September 30, 2012 and does not expect to make any additional contributions during the fourth quarter of 2012.

For the three- and nine-month periods ended September 30, 2012 and 2011, net postretirement costs were comprised of the following:

|  | End<br>Septem | Three Months<br>Ended<br>September 30, |          | ne Months<br>Ended<br>otember 30, |  |
|--|---------------|--|----------|-----------------------------------|--|
| (In thousands)                                   | 2012          | 2011                                   | 2012     | 2011                              |  |
| Components of Net Postretirement Costs           |               |  |          |                                   |  |
| Service cost for benefits earned during the year | \$ 464        | \$ 400                                 | \$ 1,392 | \$ 1,199                          |  |
| Interest cost on accumulated benefit obligation  | 310           | 297                                    | 931      | 892                               |  |
| Net amortization of unrecognized amounts         |               |  |          |                                   |  |
| Prior service cost                               | (104)         | (104)                                  | (314)    | (312)                             |  |
| Actuarial loss                                   | 113           | 112                                    | 339      | 337                               |  |
|  |               |  |          |                                   |  |
| Net postretirement costs                         | \$ 783        | \$ 705                                 | \$ 2,348 | \$ 2,116                          |  |

#### 8. Debt

A summary of debt is set forth in the following table:

| (In thousands)  | Sep | tember 30,<br>2012 | cember 31,<br>2011<br>Audited) |
|---|-----|--------------------|--------------------------------|
| Receivables credit facility, effective interest rate of 1.06% and 1.15% as of September 30, 2012 and  |     |                    |                                |
| December 31, 2011, respectively, due October 11, 2014   | \$  | 109,000            | \$<br>109,000                  |
| Senior credit facility Term loan, effective interest rate of 1.72% and 2.08% as of September 30, 2012 |     |                    |                                |
| and December 31, 2011, respectively, due October 11, 2016   |     | 138,750            | 150,000                        |
| Senior notes, net of discount of \$514 as of December 31, 2011, interest at 5.75% payable             |     |                    |                                |
| semi-annually, due August 1, 2013, redeemed July 26, 2012   |     |                    | 399,486                        |
| Senior notes, net of discount of \$34 and \$38 as of September 30, 2012 and December 31, 2011,        |     |                    |                                |
| interest at 6.50% payable semi-annually, due March 15, 2018   |     | 149,966            | 149,962                        |
| Senior notes, net of discount of \$346 as of September 30, 2012, interest at 3.90% payable            |     |                    |                                |
| semi-annually, due June 15, 2022  |     | 399,654            |                                |
|   |     |                    |                                |
| Total   |     | 797,370            | 808,448                        |
| Less current portion  |     | 15,000             | 15,000                         |
|   |     |                    |                                |
| Total long-term debt  | \$  | 782,370            | \$<br>793,448                  |

On June 26, 2012, PCA issued \$400.0 million of 3.90% senior notes due June 15, 2022 through a registered public offering and notified the holders of its \$400.0 million of 5.75% senior notes due August 1, 2013 that it would redeem those notes on July 26, 2012. On July 26, 2012, PCA completed the redemption of the old notes for \$432.5 million, which included a redemption premium of \$21.3 million and \$11.2 million of accrued and unpaid interest. PCA used the proceeds of the offering of the new 3.90% notes and cash on hand to fund the redemption.

#### 9. Transfers of Financial Assets

PCA has an on-balance sheet securitization program for its trade accounts receivable that is accounted for as a secured borrowing under ASC 860, Transfers and Servicing. To effectuate this program, the Company formed a wholly owned, limited-purpose subsidiary, Packaging Credit Company, LLC (PCC), which in turn formed a wholly owned, bankruptcy-remote, special-purpose subsidiary, Packaging Receivables Company, LLC (PCC), for the purpose of acquiring receivables from PCC. Both of these entities are included in the consolidated financial statements of the Company. Under this program, PCC purchases on an ongoing basis substantially all of the receivables of the Company and sells such receivables to PRC. PRC and lenders established a \$200.0 million receivables-backed revolving credit facility (Receivables Credit Facility) through which PRC obtains funds to purchase receivables from PCC. The receivables purchased by PRC are solely the property of PRC. In the event of liquidation of PRC, the creditors of PRC would be entitled to satisfy their claims from PRC s assets prior to any distribution to PCC or the Company. Credit available under the receivables credit facility is on a borrowing-base formula. As a result, the full amount of the facility may not be available at all times. At September 30, 2012, \$109.0 million was outstanding and included in Long-term debt on the condensed consolidated balance sheet. Substantially all accounts receivable at September 30, 2012 have been sold to PRC and are included in Accounts receivable, net of allowance for doubtful accounts and customer deductions on the condensed consolidated balance sheet.

#### 10. Derivative Instruments and Hedging Activities

The Company records its derivatives in accordance with ASC 815, Derivatives and Hedging. The guidance requires the Company to recognize derivative instruments as either assets or liabilities in the balance sheet at fair value. The accounting for changes in the fair value of a derivative depends on the intended use and designation of the derivative instrument. For a derivative designated as a fair value hedge, the gain or loss on the derivative instrument designated as a cash flow hedge, the effective portion of the derivative s gain or loss is initially reported as a component of accumulated other comprehensive income (loss) (OCI) and is subsequently recognized in earnings when the hedged exposure affects earnings.

#### Hedging Strategy

PCA is exposed to certain risks relating to its ongoing operations. When appropriate, the Company uses derivatives as a risk management tool to mitigate the potential impact of certain market risks. The primary risks managed by using derivative financial instruments are interest rate and foreign currency exchange rate risks. PCA does not enter into derivative financial instruments for trading or speculative purposes.

#### Interest Rate Risk

The Company has historically used treasury lock derivative instruments to manage interest costs and the risk associated with changing interest rates. In connection with contemplated issuances of ten-year debt securities, PCA entered into interest rate protection agreements with counterparties in 2003, 2008, 2010 and 2011 to protect against increases in the ten-year U.S. Treasury Note rate. These treasury rates served as references in determining the interest rates applicable to the debt securities the Company issued in July 2003, March 2008 and June 2012. As a result of changes in the interest rates on those treasury securities between the time PCA entered into the agreements and the time PCA priced and issued the debt securities, the Company: (1) received a payment of \$22.8 million from the counterparty upon settlement of the 2003 interest rate protection agreement on July 21, 2003; (2) made a payment of \$4.4 million to the counterparty upon settlement of the 2008 interest rate protection agreements on February 4, 2011; and (4) made a payment of \$65.5 million to the counterparty upon settlement of the 2011 interest rate protection agreement on June 26, 2012. The Company recorded the effective portion of the settlements in accumulated OCI, and these amounts are being amortized over the terms of the respective notes.

During the second quarter of 2012, the Company recorded a charge of \$3.4 million in interest expense as hedge ineffectiveness due to settling the 2011 interest rate protection agreement prior to its maturity of December 31, 2012. The Company calculated the ineffective portion of the hedge utilizing the hypothetical derivative method.

During the third quarter of 2012, the Company recorded a \$2.2 million settlement gain in interest expense from the 2003 interest rate protection agreement that was written off due to the redemption of the 5.75% notes on July 26, 2012.

At September 30, 2012, the Company did not have any interest rate protection agreements outstanding.

#### Foreign Currency Exchange Rate Risk

In connection with the energy projects at its Valdosta, Georgia mill and Counce, Tennessee mill, the Company entered into foreign currency forward contracts in 2009 and 2010 to hedge its exposure to forecasted purchases of machinery and equipment denominated in foreign currencies. The foreign currency forward contracts were properly documented and designated as cash flow hedges at inception. By the end of 2011, all contracts had been settled for a loss of \$0.7 million. The loss was recorded in accumulated OCI and is being amortized into cost of sales over the lives of the respective machinery and equipment. At September 30, 2012, the Company did not have any foreign currency forward contracts outstanding.

#### **Derivative Instruments**

The impact of derivative instruments on the condensed consolidated statements of income and accumulated other comprehensive income ( OCI ) is as follows:

|   | Amount of<br>(Loss) Rec<br>Accumula<br>(Effective | ognized in<br>ated OCI      |
|---|---|-----------------------------|
| (In thousands)                                  | Sept. 30,<br>2012                                 | Dec. 31,<br>2011<br>Audited |
| Treasury locks, net of tax                      | \$ (32,510)                                       | \$ (23,289)                 |
| Foreign currency exchange contracts, net of tax | (398)   | (413)                       |
| Total   | \$ (32,908)                                       | \$ (23,702)                 |

|   | Amount of Gain (Loss)<br>Reclassified from Accumulated<br>OCI into Income<br>(Effective Portion) |        |                                    |          |  |
|---|--|--------|------------------------------------|----------|--|
|   | Three Months Ended<br>September 30,  |        | Nine Months Ended<br>September 30, |          |  |
| Location<br>(In thousands)                                    | 2012   | 2011   | 2012                               | 2011     |  |
| Amortization of treasury locks (included in interest expense, | ¢ 000  | ф 461  | ¢ 1.040                            | ¢ 1.205  |  |
| net)  | \$ 998   | \$ 461 | \$ 1,849                           | \$ 1,385 |  |
| Amortization of foreign currency forward contracts (included  |  |        |                                    |          |  |
| in cost of sales)   | (9)  | 2      | (26)                               | 2        |  |

The net amount of settlement gains or losses on derivative instruments included in accumulated OCI to be amortized over the next 12 months is a net loss of \$5.7 million (\$3.6 million after tax).

#### 11. Fair Value Measurements

The following presents information about PCA s assets and liabilities measured at fair value and the valuation techniques used to determine those fair values. The inputs used in the determination of fair values are categorized according to the fair value hierarchy as being Level 1, Level 2 or Level 3 in accordance with ASC 820, Fair Value Measurements and Disclosures. The valuation techniques are as follows:

(a) Market approach prices and other relevant information generated by market transactions involving identical or comparable assets or liabilities

(b) Cost approach amount that would be required to replace the service capacity of an asset (replacement cost)

(c) Income approach techniques to convert future amounts to a single present amount based on market expectations (including present value techniques, option-pricing and excess earnings models)

A summary of financial instruments recognized at fair value on a recurring basis follows:

| (In thousands)              | Total   | Quoted prices<br>in active<br>markets for<br>identical assets<br>(Level 1) | Other<br>observable<br>inputs<br>(Level 2) | Unobservable<br>inputs<br>(Level 3) |
|-----------------------------|---------|--|--|-------------------------------------|
| September 30, 2012          |         |  |  |                                     |
| Cash and Cash Equivalents   |         |  |  |                                     |
| Cash                        | \$ 500  | \$ 500   | \$   | \$                                  |
| Money market funds          | 140,406 | 140,406  |  |                                     |
| December 31, 2011 (Audited) |         |  |  |                                     |
| Cash and Cash Equivalents   |         |  |  |                                     |
| Cash                        | \$ 499  | \$ 499   | \$   | \$                                  |
| Money market funds          | 155,814 | 155,814  |  |                                     |
| Accrued Liabilities         |         |  |  |                                     |
| Treasury lock               | 48,829  |  | 48,829                                     |                                     |

PCA values its financial instruments using the market approach. No financial instruments were recognized using unobservable inputs.

There were no changes in the Company s valuation techniques used to measure fair values on a recurring basis since December 31, 2011. PCA had no assets or liabilities that were measured on a nonrecurring basis.

#### **Other Fair Value Measurements**

Long-term debt and the current maturities of long-term debt had a carrying value of \$797.4 million and a fair value of \$829.8 million at September 30, 2012 compared to \$808.4 million and \$856.9 million, respectively, at December 31, 2011. The fair value of the Company s senior notes is determined based on quoted market prices. The carrying value of the Company s variable rate debt approximates its market value due to the variable interest-rate feature of the instrument. These are considered Level 2 fair value measurements.

#### 12. Environmental Liabilities

The potential costs for various environmental matters are uncertain due to such factors as the unknown magnitude of possible cleanup costs, the complexity and evolving nature of governmental laws and regulations and their interpretations, and the timing, varying costs and effectiveness of alternative cleanup technologies. From 1994 through September 30, 2012, remediation costs at PCA s mills and corrugated plants totaled approximately \$3.2 million. As of September 30, 2012, the Company maintained an environmental reserve of \$11.3 million relating to on-site landfills and surface impoundments as well as ongoing and anticipated remedial projects. Liabilities recorded for environmental contingencies are estimates of the probable costs based upon available information and assumptions. Because of these uncertainties, PCA s estimates may change. As of the date of this filing, the Company believes that it is not reasonably possible that future environmental expenditures for remediation costs and asset retirement obligations above the \$11.3 million accrued as of September 30, 2012 will have a material impact on its financial condition, results of operations, or cash flows.

#### 13. Stock Repurchase Program

On February 22, 2011, PCA announced that its Board of Directors had authorized the repurchase of \$100.0 million of the Company s outstanding common stock, which it completed in the first quarter of 2012. Through March 31, 2012, the Company repurchased 3,996,118 shares of common stock, with 35,563 shares repurchased for \$1.0 million, or \$29.40 per share, during the first quarter of 2012. All repurchased shares were retired prior to March 31, 2012.

On December 14, 2011, the Company announced that its Board of Directors had authorized the repurchase of an additional \$150.0 million of the Company s outstanding common stock. During the first nine months of 2012, the Company repurchased 1,369,196 shares of common stock for \$40.5 million, or \$29.56 per share, under this authorization. All repurchased shares were retired prior to September 30, 2012. As of September 30, 2012, \$109.5 million of the \$150.0 million authorization remained available for repurchase of the Company s common stock.

#### 14. Alternative Energy Tax Credits

The Company generates black liquor as a by-product of its pulp manufacturing process. When black liquor is mixed with diesel, it is considered an alternative fuel that was eligible for a \$0.50 per gallon refundable alternative fuel mixture credit through December 31, 2009. Black liquor is also eligible for a \$1.01 per gallon taxable cellulosic biofuel producer credit for gallons produced in 2009. In an IRS memorandum released in 2010, the IRS concluded that a black liquor producer may claim the alternative fuel mixture credit and the cellulosic biofuel producer credit in the same taxable year for different volumes of black liquor (the same gallon of fuel cannot receive both credits but can be claimed as either an alternative fuel mixture credit or a cellulosic biofuel producer credit).

During the fourth quarter of 2010 the Company determined that its proprietary biofuel process at its Filer City, Michigan mill would likely qualify for the 2009 cellulosic biofuel producer credit. The Company amended the 2009 federal return in December 2010 to claim these gallons, resulting in \$107.0 million of cellulosic biofuel producer credits. Due to the unique and proprietary nature of the Filer City mill process, IRS guidelines do not specifically address the process and uncertainty exists as to its eligibility for the cellulosic biofuel credit. As a result, the Company increased the reserve for uncertain tax positions under ASC 740, Income Taxes, by \$102.0 million, which resulted in a net benefit of \$5.0 million recorded during the fourth quarter of 2010.

On February 3, 2012, PCA again amended its 2009 federal income tax return to reduce the gallons claimed as cellulosic biofuel producer credits previously recorded as a tax benefit and to increase the gallons claimed as alternative fuel mixture credits previously recorded as income. The total number of gallons of black liquor remained the same. The increase in gallons claimed as alternative fuel mixture credits resulted in income of \$95.5 million recorded in Alternative fuel mixture credits, and the decrease in gallons claimed as cellulosic biofuel producer credits resulted in a decrease in tax benefits of \$118.5 million recorded in Provision for income taxes in the accompanying condensed consolidated statement of income. The net impact of these changes resulted in a non-cash, after-tax charge of \$23.0 million recorded in the first quarter of 2012.

The cellulosic biofuel producer credit is a taxable credit. However, the laws governing the taxability of the alternative fuel mixture credit are not completely defined. The IRS has not issued definitive guidance regarding such taxability. PCA believes that the manner in which the credit was claimed on its 2008 and 2009 federal income tax returns will not subject the Company to federal or state income taxes on such benefits. If it is determined that any of the alternative fuel mixture credits are subject to taxation, PCA will be required to pay those taxes and take a corresponding charge to its income. During the first quarter of 2011, the Company received notification that the IRS would begin its review of the cellulosic biofuel producer tax credits claimed in the 2009 federal income tax return, and such review is under way.

As of September 30, 2012, including the reserve for uncertain tax positions, PCA had as much as \$78.7 million of alternative energy tax credits to be used to offset future tax payments.

#### **15. Legal Proceedings**

During September and October 2010, PCA and eight other U.S. and Canadian containerboard producers were named as defendants in five purported class action lawsuits filed in the United States District Court for the Northern District of Illinois, alleging violations of the Sherman Act. The lawsuits have been consolidated in a

single complaint under the caption *Kleen Products LLC v Packaging Corp. of America et al.* The consolidated complaint alleges that the defendants conspired to limit the supply of containerboard, and that the purpose and effect of the alleged conspiracy was to artificially increase prices of containerboard products during the period of August 2005 to the time of filing of the complaint. The complaint was filed as a purported class action suit on behalf of all purchasers of containerboard products during such period. The complaint seeks treble damages and costs, including attorney s fees. The defendants motions to dismiss the complaint were denied by the court in April 2011. PCA believes the allegations are without merit and will defend this lawsuit vigorously. However, as the lawsuit is in the early stages of discovery, PCA is unable to predict the ultimate outcome or estimate a range of reasonably possible losses.

#### 16. Valdosta Mill Fire Insurance Recovery

On April 4, 2011, the Company s Valdosta, Georgia mill had a fire in the turbine generator room. The fire resulted in production and sales volume losses of 11,000 tons and significant repair and demolition expenses to affected buildings and equipment. PCA is insured for the lost production, replacement value of destroyed assets, and related expenses, subject to a \$3.0 million deductible. The Company filed an insurance claim for the total cost of the fire and received \$9.4 million, net of the \$3.0 million deductible, for losses incurred and capital expenditures during 2011. During the first nine months of 2012, the Company received an additional \$1.4 million in insurance proceeds for capital expenditures which is included in net cash used for investing activities based on the nature of the reimbursement.

#### 17. Acquisitions

On April 14, 2011, the Company acquired Field Packaging Group, a corrugated products manufacturer located in Chicago, Illinois, for \$26.9 million. Sales and total assets of the acquisition were not material to the Company s overall sales and total assets prior to the acquisition. Operating results of the acquisition subsequent to April 14, 2011 are included in the Company s operating results. The Company has allocated the purchase price to the assets acquired and liabilities assumed, of which \$11.5 million has been allocated to goodwill (which is deductible for tax purposes), \$9.5 million to customer relationships (to be amortized over a life of ten years) and \$0.2 million to other intangible assets (to be amortized over a life of three years).

On September 10, 2011, the Company acquired the assets of Packaging Materials Company, a corrugated products manufacturer located near Huntsville, Alabama, for \$8.6 million. Sales and total assets of the acquisition were not material to the Company s overall sales and total assets prior to the acquisition. Operating results of the acquisition subsequent to September 10, 2011 are included in the Company s operating results. The Company has allocated the purchase price to the assets acquired and liabilities assumed, of which \$1.5 million has been allocated to goodwill (which is deductible for tax purposes).

On November 30, 2011, PCA acquired the assets of Colorado Container, a corrugated products manufacturer located in Denver, Colorado, for \$21.8 million. Sales and total assets of the acquisition were not material to PCA s overall sales and total assets prior to the acquisition. Operating results of the acquisition subsequent to November 30, 2011 are included in the Company s operating results. The Company has allocated the purchase price to the assets acquired and liabilities assumed, of which \$5.8 million has been allocated to goodwill (which is deductible for tax purposes), \$5.8 million to customer relationships (to be amortized over a life of ten years) and \$0.2 million to other intangible assets (to be amortized over a life of three years).

On March 16, 2012, PCA acquired the assets of Packaging Specialists, a corrugated products manufacturer located near Pittsburgh, Pennsylvania, for \$35.4 million. Sales and total assets of the acquisition were not material to PCA s overall sales and total assets prior to the acquisition. Operating results of the acquisition subsequent to March 16, 2012 are included in the Company s operating results. The Company has allocated the purchase price to the assets acquired and liabilities assumed based on preliminary estimates, of which \$14.1 million has been allocated to goodwill (which is deductible for tax purposes), \$11.4 million to customer relationships (to be amortized over a life of ten years) and \$0.3 million to other intangible assets (to be amortized over a life of three years).

#### 18. U.S. Treasury Grant

On April 5, 2012, PCA s application for a U.S. Treasury Section 1603 Grant for Specified Energy property was approved for the Valdosta energy project. The Company received the grant proceeds of \$57.4 million on April 11, 2012 and recorded the proceeds as a reduction to the cost of the related property, plant and equipment. These proceeds will be amortized ratably over the estimated useful lives of the related equipment.

#### **19. Subsequent Events**

The Company has evaluated subsequent events through the filing date of this Form 10-Q and determined there were no events to disclose.

## Item 2.Management s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations.Overview

Packaging Corporation of America, or PCA, is the fourth largest producer of containerboard and corrugated products in the United States, based on production capacity. We produce a wide variety of corrugated products ranging from basic corrugated shipping containers to specialized packaging, such as wax-coated boxes for the agriculture industry. We also have multi-color printing capabilities to make high-impact graphics boxes and displays that offer our customers more attractive packaging. Our operating facilities and customers are located primarily in the United States.

In analyzing our operating performance, we focus on the following factors that affect our business and are important to consider when reviewing our financial and operating results:

containerboard and corrugated products demand;

corrugated products and containerboard pricing and mix;

cost trends and volatility for our major costs, including wood and recycled fiber, purchased fuels, electricity, labor and fringe benefits, and transportation costs; and

cash flow from operations and capital expenditures.

The cost to manufacture containerboard is dependent, in large part, on the costs of wood fiber, recycled fiber, purchased fuels, electricity and labor and fringe benefits. Excluding the cost of containerboard, labor and benefits costs make up the largest component of corrugated products manufactured costs.

The market for containerboard is generally subject to changes in the U.S. economy. Historically, supply and demand, as well as industry-wide inventory levels, have influenced prices of containerboard and corrugated products. In addition to U.S. shipments, approximately 10% of domestically produced containerboard has been exported annually for use in other countries.

#### **Industry Conditions**

As reported by the Fibre Box Association, industry-wide shipments of corrugated products decreased 1.4% for the three months ended September 30, 2012 compared to the same period in 2011. Reported industry containerboard production for the three months ended September 30, 2012 decreased 1.3% compared to the same period in 2011, and reported industry containerboard inventories at the end of the third quarter of 2012 were approximately 2.1 million tons. Reported industry shipments to export markets increased 3.4% for the third quarter of 2012 compared to the third quarter of 2011. Published prices for containerboard reported in industry publications increased \$50 per ton in September 2012.

#### PCA Operations Summary

During the third quarter of 2012, we produced approximately 670,000 tons of containerboard at our mills and sold about 8.6 billion square feet ( bsf ) of corrugated products. Our corrugated products shipments-per-workday for the third quarter of 2012 were up 5.7% compared to the third quarter of 2011. Containerboard volume sold to domestic and export customers for the three months ended September 30, 2012 increased 6.6% compared to the same period in 2011.

Published recycled fiber prices for old corrugated containers (OCC) reported in industry publications were down about 40% compared to the third quarter 2011 average price. Our energy, chemicals and maintenance costs in the third quarter of 2012 were lower than the comparable period in 2011 largely due to the impact of our recently completed major energy projects at our Counce, Tennessee and Valdosta, Georgia linerboard mills. Wood fiber costs increased slightly compared to both second quarter 2012 and third quarter 2011. Transportation costs were essentially unchanged compared to last year s third quarter.

As disclosed in Note 14 to the condensed consolidated financial statements, the Company amended its 2009 federal income tax return on February 3, 2012, to reduce the gallons claimed as cellulosic biofuel producer credits previously recorded as a tax benefit and to increase the gallons claimed as alternative fuel mixture credits previously recorded as income. The total number of gallons of black liquor remained the same. The increase in gallons claimed as alternative fuel mixture credits resulted in income of \$95.5 million recorded in Alternative fuel mixture credits, and the decrease in gallons claimed as cellulosic biofuel producer credits resulted in a decrease in tax benefits of \$118.5 million recorded in Provision for income taxes. The net impact of these changes resulted in a non-cash, after-tax charge of \$23.0 million in the first quarter of 2012.

On June 26, 2012, we issued \$400.0 million of new 3.90% senior notes due 2022 in a registered public offering in order to refinance our outstanding \$400.0 million of 5.75% senior notes due August 1, 2013. We completed the redemption of the old 5.75% notes on July 26, 2012 for \$432.5 million (which included \$11.2 million of accrued interest on the old notes through the date of redemption), using the proceeds of the offering of the new 3.90% notes and cash on hand. In connection with the refinancing, we incurred \$2.5 million of after-tax refinancing charges during the second quarter primarily due to settling an interest rate protection agreement prior to its maturity. We also recorded an additional \$13.5 million after-tax charge in the third quarter, primarily as a result of the premium associated with the early redemption of the old notes. We paid \$65.5 million during the second quarter of 2012 to settle an interest rate protection agreement that we entered into in August 2011 relating to the ten-year treasury security. The effective portion of this settlement is recorded in Accumulated Other Comprehensive Income (Loss) on the balance sheet and will be amortized as interest expense over the ten-year term of the new notes. For further information, please see Notes 8 and 10 to the condensed consolidated financial statements included in this report.

Excluding debt refinancing charges of \$13.5 million, or \$0.14 per share, we earned net income of \$53.3 million (\$0.55 per diluted share) in the third quarter of 2012 compared with \$42.8 million (\$0.43 per diluted share) in the third quarter of 2011, excluding a charge of \$1.0 million (\$0.01 per diluted share) for energy project asset disposals. Management excludes special items and uses these measures to focus on PCA s on-going operations and assess its operating performance and believes that it is useful to investors because it enables them to perform meaningful comparisons of past and present operating results. Reconciliations to the most comparable measure reported in accordance with GAAP are included elsewhere in this section under Reconciliations of Non-GAAP Financial Measures to Reported Amounts.

PCA implemented a \$50 per ton domestic containerboard price increase during the third quarter and is currently in the process of implementing a corresponding price increase for corrugated products, which it expects to essentially complete in the fourth quarter. PCA expects higher fourth quarter earnings from our announced price increases, but an entire quarter s earnings benefit from these price increases will not be fully realized until the first quarter of 2013. The earnings improvement from higher prices in the fourth quarter is expected to be partially offset by seasonally higher costs due, in part, to colder weather. Considering these items, we expect our fourth quarter earnings to be higher than our third quarter 2012 earnings.

#### **Results of Operations**

#### Three Months Ended September 30, 2012 Compared to Three Months Ended September 30, 2011

The historical results of operations of PCA for the three months ended September 30, 2012 and 2011 are set forth below:

|                            | Three Months Ended<br>September 30, |           |            |
|----------------------------|-------------------------------------|-----------|------------|
|                            | 2012                                | 2011      | Change     |
| (In thousands)             |                                     |           |            |
| Net sales                  | \$ 723,473                          | \$670,824 | \$ 52,649  |
|                            |                                     |           |            |
| Income from operations     | \$ 92,072                           | \$ 71,180 | \$ 20,892  |
| Interest expense, net      | (30,590)(1)                         | (6,727)   | (23,863)   |
| -                          |                                     |           |            |
| Income before taxes        | 61,482                              | 64,453    | (2,971)    |
| Provision for income taxes | (21,691)                            | (22,676)  | 985        |
| Net income                 | \$ 39,791                           | \$ 41,777 | \$ (1,986) |

(1) Includes \$21.1 million of pre-tax debt refinancing charges. *Net Sales* 

Net sales increased by \$52.6 million, or 7.8%, for the three months ended September 30, 2012 from the comparable period in 2011, primarily as a result of higher sales volumes (\$53.8 million), partially offset by unfavorable sales price and mix of containerboard to third parties primarily due to lower export pricing (\$1.2 million).

Corrugated products shipments for the third quarter increased 5.7% compared to the third quarter of 2011 on a shipments-per-workday basis. Total corrugated products volume sold for the three months ended September 30, 2012 increased 4.0% over last year. The difference in the percentage increase between the total shipments increase and the increase on a per workday basis is that the third quarter of 2012 contained one less workday, those days not falling on a weekend or holiday, than the same period in 2011. Third quarter 2012 contained 63 workdays compared to 64 workdays in third quarter 2011.

Containerboard volume sold to outside domestic and export customers for the three months ended September 30, 2012 increased 6.6% in the third quarter of 2012 compared to the same period in 2011, reflecting increased export sales. Containerboard mill production during the third quarter was 670,000 tons compared to 650,000 tons during the third quarter of 2011.

#### **Income from Operations**

Income from operations increased \$20.9 million, or 29.4%, for the three months ended September 30, 2012 compared to the three months ended September 30, 2011, driven by increased volume (\$11.0 million) and lower costs for energy (\$7.8 million), recycled fiber (\$6.3 million) and chemicals (\$3.0 million). These improvements were partially offset by higher expenses for labor (\$1.1 million), fringe benefits including medical and pension costs (\$3.3 million), depreciation (\$1.8 million), and the unfavorable sales price and mix, primarily due to lower export pricing (\$1.2 million). Income from operations was not impacted by any special items during the third quarter of 2012.

Gross profit increased \$24.8 million, or 18.0%, for the three months ended September 30, 2012 from the comparable period in 2011. Gross profit as a percentage of net sales increased to 22.5% for third quarter 2012 compared to 20.5% in third quarter 2011 primarily attributable to the volume increases and lower energy costs previously described.

Selling and administrative expenses increased \$2.6 million, or 5.3%, for the three months ended September 30, 2012 compared to the same period in 2011, primarily as a result of increased salary costs (\$1.8 million) and related fringe benefits (\$0.7 million).

Corporate overhead increased \$0.6 million, or 3.4%, for the three months ended September 30, 2012 compared to the third quarter of 2011, primarily due to increased salary and fringe benefits expense (\$0.6 million).

Other expense for the three months ended September 30, 2012 increased \$0.7 million or 59.6% compared to the comparable period in 2011, primarily due to increased expenses related to the disposal of obsolete storeroom items (\$0.5 million).

#### Interest Expense, Net and Income Taxes

Net interest expense increased \$23.9 million, from \$6.7 million in the third quarter of 2011 to \$30.6 million in the comparable period of 2012. This increase included a \$21.1 million charge in the third quarter of 2012, primarily as a result of the premium associated with the early redemption of the Company s 5.75% notes due in 2013 in July of 2012 (see Note 8 to the condensed consolidated financial statements). Excluding these charges, interest expense was \$2.8 million higher for the three months ended September 30, 2012 compared to the same period in 2011, primarily as a result of lower capitalized interest (\$2.2 million) related to the Counce and Valdosta major energy projects and additional interest expense (\$0.6 million) related to PCA s term loan borrowed in October 2011.

PCA s effective tax rate was 35.3% for the three months ended September 30, 2012 and 35.2% for the three months ended September 30, 2011. The effective tax rate varies from the U.S. federal statutory tax rate of 35% principally due to the impact of state and local income taxes and the domestic manufacturers deduction.

#### Nine Months Ended September 30, 2012 Compared to Nine Months Ended September 30, 2011

The historical results of operations of PCA for the nine months ended September 30, 2012 and 2011 are set forth below:

|                            | Nine Months Ended<br>September 30,      |              |             |  |
|----------------------------|---|--------------|-------------|--|
|                            | 2012                                    | 2011         | Change      |  |
| (In thousands)             |   |              |             |  |
| Net sales                  | \$ 2,107,298                            | \$ 1,965,805 | \$ 141,493  |  |
|                            |   |              |             |  |
| Income from operations     | \$ 345,040(1)                           | \$ 204,942   | \$ 140,098  |  |
| Interest expense, net      | (53,529)(2)                             | (19,951)     | (33,578)    |  |
| -                          |   |              |             |  |
| Income before taxes        | 291,511                                 | 184,991      | 106,520     |  |
| Provision for income taxes | (188,722)(3)                            | (66,429)     | (122,293)   |  |
| Net income                 | \$ 102,789(4)                           | \$ 118,562   | \$ (15,773) |  |
|                            | ,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,, | ,            |             |  |

(1) Includes income of \$95.5 million from the amended 2009 federal income tax return that increased the gallons claimed as alternative fuel mixture credits.

(2) Includes \$24.8 million of pre-tax debt refinancing charges.

(3) Includes reduced tax benefits of \$118.5 million from the amended 2009 federal income tax return that decreased the gallons claimed as cellulosic biofuel producer credits.

(4) Includes the net impact of the amended 2009 federal income tax return of \$23.0 million.

#### Net Sales

Net sales increased by \$141.5 million, or 7.2%, for the nine months ended September 30, 2012 from the comparable period in 2011, primarily as a result of higher sales volumes (\$150.8 million), partially offset by unfavorable sales price and mix of containerboard and corrugated products to third parties primarily due to lower export pricing (\$9.3 million).

Corrugated products shipments for the first nine months of 2012 increased 6.8% compared to the first nine months of 2011 on a shipments-per-workday basis. The first nine months of 2012 contained 190 workdays, those days not falling on a weekend or holiday, compared to the same period last year with 191 workdays. Total corrugated products shipments for the first nine months of 2012 increased 6.3% compared to the first nine months of 2011. Total corrugated products volume sold for the nine months ended September 30, 2012 increased 1.5 bsf to 25.9 bsf compared to 24.4 bsf for the nine months ended of 2011.

Containerboard volume sold to outside domestic and export customers decreased 1.1% for the nine months ended September 30, 2012 compared to the same period in 2011. Containerboard mill production during the first three quarters of 2012 was 1,948,000 tons compared to 1,858,000 tons during the first three quarters of 2011.

#### **Income from Operations**

Income from operations increased \$140.1 million, from \$204.9 million in the first nine months of 2011 to \$345.0 million in the comparable period of 2012. As noted in Note 14 to the condensed consolidated financial statements, PCA amended its 2009 federal tax return to reallocate gallons between the alternative fuel mixture credits and the cellulosic biofuel producer credits. As a result, income from operations was increased for the nine months ended September 30, 2012 by \$95.5 million with an offsetting amount recorded in tax expense of \$118.5 million.

Excluding special items (as detailed below under Reconciliations of Non-GAAP Financial Measures to Reported Amounts ), income from operations increased \$39.5 million, primarily due to higher sales volume (\$35.3 million), and lower costs for energy (\$22.2 million), recycled fiber (\$12.1 million) and chemicals (\$8.3 million). Partially offsetting these items were increased expenses related to depreciation (\$11.2 million), pension (\$7.2 million), medical (\$6.4 million) and transportation (\$6.0 million) and the unfavorable sales price and mix, primarily related to lower export sales prices (\$9.3 million).

Gross profit increased \$57.9 million, or 14.2%, for the nine months ended September 30, 2012 from the comparable period in 2011, primarily due to the sales volume increases and lower energy costs described above. Gross profit as a percentage of net sales increased to 22.1% of net sales for the first nine months of 2012 compared to 20.7% in the first nine months of 2011.

Selling and administrative expenses increased \$11.3 million, or 7.8%, for the nine months ended September 30, 2012 compared to the same period in 2011, primarily as a result of higher salaries (\$6.6 million), related fringe benefits (\$2.1 million) and depreciation (\$2.6 million).

Corporate overhead increased \$3.3 million, or 6.8%, for the first three quarters of 2012 compared to the first three quarters of 2011, primarily due to higher salary and fringe benefits expense (\$2.0 million), depreciation (\$0.8 million), and incentives (\$0.3 million).

Other expense for the nine months ended September 30, 2012 decreased \$1.3 million or 13.5% compared to the same period in 2011, primarily due to reduced expense related to fixed asset disposals (\$0.6 million) and obsolete storeroom items (\$0.6 million).

#### Interest Expense, Net and Income Taxes

Net interest expense increased \$33.6 million, from \$20.0 million in the first nine months of 2011 to \$53.5 million in the comparable period of 2012. This increase included charges of \$24.8 million in 2012, primarily as a result of the \$21.3 million premium associated with the early redemption of the Company s 5.75% notes due in 2013 in July of 2012 (see Note 8 to the condensed consolidated financial statements) and a \$3.4 million loss from settling the Company s 2011 treasury lock prior to its maturity (see Note 10 to the condensed consolidated financial statements). Excluding these charges, interest expense was \$8.7 million higher for the nine months ended September 30, 2012 compared to the same period in 2011, primarily as a result of lower capitalized interest (\$6.1 million) related primarily to the Counce and Valdosta major energy projects and additional interest expense (\$2.1 million) related to PCA s term loan borrowed in October 2011.

PCA s effective tax rate was 64.7% for the nine months ended September 30, 2012 and 35.9% for the comparable period in 2011. This increase was due to the February 2012 amendment of our 2009 federal income tax return to reallocate gallons of black liquor between the alternative fuel mixture credit and the cellulosic biofuel producer credit. Excluding the impact of the alternative energy tax credits, the 2012 effective rate would have been 35.8% for the nine months ended September 30, 2012. The effective tax rate varies from the U.S. federal statutory tax rate of 35% principally due to the impact of the alternative energy credits (in 2012), state and local income taxes and the domestic manufacturers deduction. PCA had no material changes to its uncertain tax positions under ASC 740, Income Taxes, during the first nine months of 2012.

#### Liquidity and Capital Resources

The following table presents a summary of our cash flows for the periods presented:

|  | Nine Mont<br>Septem |              |            |
|--|---------------------|--------------|------------|
|  | 2012                | 2011         | Change     |
| (In thousands)                                       |                     |              |            |
| Net cash provided by (used for):                     |                     |              |            |
| Operating activities                                 | \$ 251,811          | \$ 236,817   | \$ 14,994  |
| Investing activities                                 | (73,546)            | (261,147)    | 187,601    |
| Financing activities                                 | (193,672)           | (132,109)    | (61,563)   |
|  |                     |              |            |
| Net increase (decrease) in cash and cash equivalents | \$ (15,407)         | \$ (156,439) | \$ 141,032 |

#### **Operating Activities**

Net cash provided by operating activities for the nine months ended September 30, 2012 was \$251.8 million compared to \$236.8 million for the nine months ended September 30, 2011, an increase of \$15.0 million, or 6.3%. Cash provided by operating activities before changes in operating assets and liabilities was \$357.8 million for the first nine months of 2012 compared to \$273.0 million for the comparable period in 2011, an increase of \$84.8 million that was driven by the stronger operations in 2012 as previously discussed and an additional \$34.6 million of alternative energy tax credits used to reduce federal income tax payments during the first nine months of 2012. Cash used for operating assets and liabilities totaled \$106.0 million for the nine month period ended September 30, 2012 compared to \$36.2 million for the comparable period in 2011, an increase of \$69.8 million. The additional requirements for operating assets and liabilities in 2012 and higher levels of accounts receivable driven by the higher sales volumes in 2012 previously described. Cash requirements for operating activities are subject to PCA s operating needs and the timing of collection of receivables and payments of payables and expenses.

#### **Investing** Activities

Net cash used for investing activities for the nine months ended September 30, 2012 decreased \$187.6 million, or 71.8%, to \$73.5 million, compared to the nine months ended September 30, 2011. The decrease was related to lower additions to property, plant and equipment of \$120.6 million as our major energy projects were completed in 2011, the receipt of \$57.4 million in grant proceeds from the U.S. Treasury in 2012 (see Note 18 to the condensed consolidated financial statements), and lower additions to long term assets of \$9.8 million during the first nine months of 2012 compared to the same period in 2011.

#### **Financing** Activities

Net cash used for financing activities totaled \$193.7 million for the nine months ended September 30, 2012 compared to \$132.1 million for the same period in 2011, an increase of \$61.6 million, or 46.6 %. The increase was primarily attributable to the July 26, 2012 redemption of the Company s 5.75% senior notes due in 2013 for \$421.3 million, partially offset by \$397.0 million in net proceeds received from the Company s senior notes issuance that was completed on June 26, 2012. Additionally, the Company paid \$65.5 million to settle a treasury lock on June 26, 2012, received \$9.9 million in proceeds from the settlement of treasury locks in February 2011, paid higher dividends of \$12.7 million and made \$11.3 million in term loan principal payments during the first nine months of 2012. This was partially offset by lower repurchases of PCA common stock of \$51.9 million and higher proceeds received from stock option exercises of \$11.2 million during the first nine months of 2012.

On February 21, 2012, PCA announced that its board of directors authorized an increase in the quarterly dividend from \$0.20 to \$0.25 per share of its common stock, beginning with the dividend paid on April 13, 2012. The timing and amount of future dividends are subject to the determination of PCA s board of directors.

PCA s primary sources of liquidity are net cash provided by operating activities and available borrowing capacity under PCA s credit facilities. As of September 30, 2012, PCA had \$327.7 million in unused borrowing capacity under its existing credit agreements, with \$13.3 million of the borrowing capacity used for outstanding letters of credit. Currently, PCA s primary uses of cash are for operations, capital expenditures, debt service and declared common stock dividends, which it expects to be able to fund from these sources.

The following table provides the outstanding balances, excluding unamortized debt discount, and the weighted average interest rates as of September 30, 2012 for PCA s senior credit facility, the receivables credit facility, and the senior notes:

| Borrowing Arrangement<br>(In thousands) | Balance at<br>September 30,<br>2012 | Weighted<br>Average<br>Interest Rate | Projected<br>Annual<br>Cash Interest<br>Payments |  |  |
|---|-------------------------------------|--------------------------------------|--|--|--|
| Senior Credit Facility                  | \$                                  | N/A                                  | N/A  |  |  |
| Term Loan                               | 138,750                             | 1.72%                                | \$ 2,381   |  |  |
| Receivables Credit Facility             | 109,000                             | 1.06                                 | 1,160  |  |  |
| 3.90% Senior Notes (due June 15, 2022)  | 400,000                             | 3.90                                 | 15,600   |  |  |
| 6.50% Senior Notes (due March 15, 2018) | 150,000                             | 6.50                                 | 9,750  |  |  |
| Total                                   | \$ 797,750                          | 3.62%                                | \$ 28,891  |  |  |

The above table excludes from the projected annual cash interest payments the non-cash expense of \$5.7 million from the annual amortization of the treasury locks related to the 6.50% senior notes due 2018 and the 3.90% senior notes due 2022. The amortization is being recognized over the terms of the 6.50% senior notes due 2018 and the 3.90% senior notes due 2022 and is included in interest expense, net.

The instruments governing PCA s indebtedness contain financial and other covenants that limit, among other things, the ability of PCA and its subsidiaries to:

enter into sale and leaseback transactions,

incur liens,

incur indebtedness at the subsidiary level,

enter into certain transactions with affiliates, or

merge or consolidate with any other person or sell or otherwise dispose of all or substantially all of the assets of PCA. These limitations could limit corporate and operating activities.

In addition, PCA must maintain a minimum interest coverage ratio and a maximum leverage ratio under its senior credit facility. A failure to comply with the restrictions contained in the senior credit facility could lead to an event of default, which could result in an acceleration of any outstanding indebtedness and/or prohibit PCA from drawing on its senior credit facility. Such acceleration may also constitute events of default under the senior notes indentures and the receivables credit facility. As of September 30, 2012, PCA was in compliance with these covenants.

PCA currently expects to incur normal capital expenditures of \$110.0 million to \$120.0 million in 2012, primarily for maintenance capital, cost reduction, business growth and environmental compliance. The Company also expects to spend \$50.0 million to \$60.0 million for box plant acquisitions, some of which may be used for strategic investments in its existing box plants. As of September 30, 2012, PCA spent \$94.4 million for capital expenditures and \$35.4 million for box plant acquisitions, and had committed to spend an additional \$29.6 million in capital expenditures for the remainder of 2012 and beyond.

PCA believes that net cash generated from operating activities, cash on hand, available borrowings under its committed credit facilities and available capital through access to capital markets will be adequate to meet its liquidity and capital requirements, including payments of any declared common stock dividends, for the foreseeable future. As its debt or credit facilities become due, PCA will need to repay, extend or replace such facilities. Its ability to do so will be subject to future economic conditions and financial, business and other factors, many of which are beyond PCA s control.

#### **Contractual Obligations**

There have been no material changes to the contractual obligations table disclosed in Item 7. Management s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations in our Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2011, with the exception of the maturity of the \$400.0 million in senior notes, which was effectively extended from August 1, 2013 to June 15, 2022 as a result of the debt refinancing completed on July 26, 2012.

#### **Reconciliations of Non-GAAP Financial Measures to Reported Amounts**

Income from operations, net income and diluted earnings per share excluding special items are non-GAAP financial measures. Reconciliations of those non-GAAP measures to the most comparable measure reported in accordance with GAAP for the three and nine months ended September 30, 2012 and 2011 follow:

|   | Three Months Ended September 30, |             |      |            |             |      |  |  |  |
|---|----------------------------------|-------------|------|------------|-------------|------|--|--|--|
|   | 2012                             |             |      | 2          |             |      |  |  |  |
|   | Net Income                       | Diluted EPS |      | Net Income | Diluted EPS |      |  |  |  |
| (In millions, except per share amounts) |                                  |             |      |            |             |      |  |  |  |
| As reported in accordance with GAAP     | \$ 39.8                          | \$          | 0.41 | \$ 41.8    | \$          | 0.42 |  |  |  |
| Special items:                          |                                  |             |      |            |             |      |  |  |  |
| Debt refinancing charges                | 13.5                             |             | 0.14 |            |             |      |  |  |  |
| Asset disposal charges                  |                                  |             |      | 1.0        |             | 0.01 |  |  |  |
|   |                                  |             |      |            |             |      |  |  |  |
| Total special items                     | 13.5                             |             | 0.14 | 1.0        |             | 0.01 |  |  |  |
|   |                                  |             |      |            |             |      |  |  |  |
| Excluding special items                 | \$ 53.3                          | \$          | 0.55 | \$ 42.8    | \$          | 0.43 |  |  |  |

|   | Nine Months Ended September 30, |     |        |       |         |                           |     |        |       |         |
|---|---------------------------------|-----|--------|-------|---------|---------------------------|-----|--------|-------|---------|
|   |                                 |     | 2012   |       |         |                           |     | 2011   |       |         |
|   | Income from<br>Operations       | Net | Income | Dilut | ted EPS | Income from<br>Operations | Net | Income | Dilut | ted EPS |
| (In millions, except per share amounts) |                                 |     |        |       |         |                           |     |        |       |         |
| As reported in accordance with GAAP     | \$ 345.0                        | \$  | 102.8  | \$    | 1.05    | \$ 204.9                  | \$  | 118.6  | \$    | 1.17    |
| Special items:                          |                                 |     |        |       |         |                           |     |        |       |         |
| Debt refinancing charges                |                                 |     | 16.0   |       | 0.16    |                           |     |        |       |         |
| Alternative energy tax credits (a)      | (95.5)                          |     | 23.0   |       | 0.24    |                           |     |        |       |         |
| Medical benefits reserve adjustment     |                                 |     |        |       |         | (1.6)                     |     | (1.0)  |       |         |
| Asset disposal charges                  |                                 |     |        |       |         | 6.7                       |     | 4.2    |       | 0.04    |
|   |                                 |     |        |       |         |                           |     |        |       |         |
| Total special items                     | (95.5)                          |     | 39.0   |       | 0.40    | 5.1                       |     | 3.2    |       | 0.04    |
|   |                                 |     |        |       |         |                           |     |        |       |         |
| Excluding special items                 | \$ 249.5                        | \$  | 141.8  | \$    | 1.45    | \$ 210.0                  | \$  | 121.8  | \$    | 1.21    |

Note: The sum of the diluted EPS may not equal the total for the respective period s diluted EPS due to rounding.

(a) Represents a charge from amending the Company s 2009 federal income tax return to reduce the gallons of black liquor claimed as cellulosic biofuel producer credits previously recorded as a tax benefit, and to increase the gallons claimed for alternative fuel mixture credits previously recorded as income. The total number of gallons of black liquor remained the same. The increase in gallons claimed as alternative fuel mixture credits resulted in income of \$95.5 million, and the decrease in gallons claimed as cellulosic biofuel producer credits resulted in a decrease in tax benefits of \$118.5 million, for a net non-cash, after-tax charge of \$23.0 million.

#### Market Risk and Risk Management Policies

PCA is exposed to the impact of interest rate changes and changes in the market value of its financial instruments. PCA periodically enters into derivatives in order to minimize these risks, but not for trading purposes. For a discussion of derivatives and hedging activities, see Note 10 to PCA s unaudited condensed consolidated financial statements included elsewhere in this report.

The interest rates on \$247.8 million of PCA s debt are based on LIBOR and are variable. A one percent increase in interest rates related to variable rate debt would have resulted in an increase in interest expense and a corresponding decrease in income before taxes of \$2.5 million annually. In the event of a change in interest rates, management could take actions to mitigate its exposure to the change. However, due to the uncertainty of the specific actions that would be taken and their possible effects, the sensitivity analysis assumes no changes in PCA s financial

structure.

#### **Environmental Matters**

PCA is subject to, and must comply with, a variety of federal, state and local environmental laws, particularly those relating to air and water quality, waste disposal and the cleanup of contaminated soil and groundwater. The most significant of these laws affecting the Company are:

Resource Conservation and Recovery Act (RCRA);

Clean Water Act (CWA);

Clean Air Act (CAA);

The Emergency Planning and Community Right-to-Know-Act (EPCRA);

Toxic Substance Control Act (TSCA); and

#### Safe Drinking Water Act (SDWA).

PCA believes that it is currently in material compliance with these and all applicable environmental rules and regulations. Because environmental regulations are constantly evolving, the Company has incurred, and will continue to incur, costs to maintain compliance with these and other environmental laws. PCA works diligently to anticipate and budget for the impact of applicable environmental regulations, and does not currently expect that future environmental compliance obligations will materially affect its business or financial condition.

In 2004, the U.S. Environmental Protection Agency (the EPA ) published the Boiler MACT regulations, establishing air emission standards and certain other requirements for industrial boilers. These regulations were vacated and remanded by the U.S. Court of Appeals for the D.C. Circuit in 2007. The EPA proposed final regulations in March 2011, which would require compliance in 2014. During 2011, the EPA determined that it would reconsider certain provisions of the Boiler MACT regulations and, in December 2011, the EPA published proposed rules containing changes to the March 2011 rules. The EPA may make further changes to the proposed rules. PCA is currently assessing the impact of these regulations on its operations, which could require significant modifications to certain of PCA s boilers. Due to the complexity of these regulations, and the potential for additional future regulatory or judicial modification to these regulations, the timing and amount of expenditures to be made by PCA are uncertain, but could be significant during the period before compliance is required.

#### **Impact of Inflation**

PCA does not believe that inflation has had a material impact on its financial position or results of operations during the three- and nine-month periods ending September 30, 2012 and 2011.

#### **Off-Balance Sheet Arrangements**

PCA does not have any off-balance sheet arrangements as of September 30, 2012 that would require disclosure under SEC FR-67, Disclosure in Management s Discussion and Analysis about Off-Balance Sheet Arrangements and Aggregate Contractual Obligations.

#### **Critical Accounting Policies and Estimates**

Management s discussion and analysis of PCA s financial condition and results of operations are based upon the Company s consolidated financial statements, which have been prepared in accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America. The preparation of these financial statements requires the Company to make estimates and judgments that affect the reported amounts of assets, liabilities, revenues and expenses, and related disclosures of contingent assets and liabilities. On an ongoing basis, PCA evaluates its estimates, including those related to bad debts, inventories, intangible assets, pensions and other postretirement benefits, income taxes, contingencies and

## Edgar Filing: PACKAGING CORP OF AMERICA - Form 10-Q

litigation. PCA bases its estimates on historical

experience and on various other assumptions that are believed to be reasonable under the circumstances, the results of which form the basis for making judgments about the carrying values of assets and liabilities that are not readily apparent from other sources. Actual results may differ from these estimates under different assumptions or conditions.

PCA has included in its Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2011, a discussion of its critical accounting policies which it believes affect its more significant judgments and estimates used in the preparation of its consolidated financial statements. PCA has not made any changes in any of these critical accounting policies during the first nine months of 2012.

#### **Forward-Looking Statements**

Some of the statements in this Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q, and in particular, statements found in Management s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations, that are not historical in nature are forward-looking statements within the meaning of the Private Securities Litigation Reform Act of 1995. These statements are often identified by the words will, should, anticipate, believe, expect, inten estimate, hope, or similar expressions. These statements reflect management s current views with respect to future events and are subject to risks and uncertainties. There are important factors that could cause actual results to differ materially from those in forward-looking statements, many of which are beyond our control. These factors, risks and uncertainties include the following:

the impact of general economic conditions;

containerboard and corrugated products general industry conditions, including competition, product demand and product pricing;

fluctuations in wood fiber and recycled fiber costs;

fluctuations in purchased energy costs;

the possibility of unplanned outages or interruptions at our principal facilities; and

legislative or regulatory actions or requirements, particularly concerning environmental or tax matters.

Our actual results, performance or achievement could differ materially from those expressed in, or implied by, these forward-looking statements, and accordingly, we can give no assurances that any of the events anticipated by the forward-looking statements will transpire or occur, or if any of them do occur, what impact they will have on our results of operations or financial condition. In view of these uncertainties, investors are cautioned not to place undue reliance on these forward-looking statements. We expressly disclaim any obligation to publicly revise any forward-looking statements that have been made to reflect the occurrence of events after the date hereof. For a discussion of other factors, risks and uncertainties that may affect our business, see Item 1A. Risk Factors included in our Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2011.

#### Item 3. Quantitative and Qualitative Disclosures About Market Risk.

For a discussion of market risks related to PCA, see Part I, Item 2, Management s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations Market Risk and Risk Management Policies in this Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q.

Item 4. Controls and Procedures.

### Edgar Filing: PACKAGING CORP OF AMERICA - Form 10-Q

PCA maintains disclosure controls and procedures (as defined in Rule 13a-15(e) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934) that are designed to provide reasonable assurance that information required to be disclosed in PCA s filings under the Securities Exchange Act is recorded, processed, summarized and reported within the

periods specified in the rules and forms of the SEC and that such information is accumulated and communicated to PCA s management, including its Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer, as appropriate, to allow timely decisions regarding required disclosure.

Prior to filing this report, PCA completed an evaluation under the supervision and with the participation of PCA s management, including PCA s Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer, of the effectiveness of the design and operation of PCA s disclosure controls and procedures as of September 30, 2012. The evaluation of PCA s disclosure controls and procedures included a review of the controls objectives and design, PCA s implementation of the controls and the effect of the controls on the information generated for use in this report. Based on this evaluation, PCA s Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer concluded that PCA s disclosure controls and procedures were effective at the reasonable assurance level as of September 30, 2012.

During the quarter ended September 30, 2012, there were no changes in internal controls over financial reporting that have materially affected, or are reasonably likely to materially affect, PCA s internal control over financial reporting.

#### PART II

#### **OTHER INFORMATION**

#### Item 1. Legal Proceedings.

During September and October 2010, PCA and eight other U.S. and Canadian containerboard producers were named as defendants in five purported class action lawsuits filed in the United States District Court for the Northern District of Illinois, alleging violations of the Sherman Act. The lawsuits have been consolidated in a single complaint under the caption *Kleen Products LLC v Packaging Corp. of America et al.* The consolidated complaint alleges that the defendants conspired to limit the supply of containerboard, and that the purpose and effect of the alleged conspiracy was to artificially increase prices of containerboard products during the period of August 2005 to the time of filing of the complaint. The complaint seeks treble damages and costs, including attorney s fees. The defendants motions to dismiss the complaint were denied by the court in April 2011. PCA believes the allegations are without merit and will defend this lawsuit vigorously. However, as the lawsuit is in the early stages of discovery, PCA is unable to predict the ultimate outcome or estimate a range of reasonably possible losses.

PCA is a party to various other legal actions arising in the ordinary course of our business. These legal actions cover a broad variety of claims spanning our entire business. As of the date of this filing, we believe it is not reasonably possible that the resolution of these legal actions will, individually or in the aggregate, have a material adverse effect on our financial condition, results of operations or cash flows.

#### Item 1A. Risk Factors

There have been no material changes to the risk factors disclosed in Item 1A. Risk Factors in our Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2011.

#### Item 2. Unregistered Sales of Equity Securities and Use of Proceeds.

The following table summarizes the Company s stock repurchases in the third quarter of 2012:

| Period                                  | Total Number<br>of Shares<br>Purchased | Average<br>Price Paid<br>per Share | Total Number<br>of Shares<br>Purchased as<br>Part of Publicly<br>Announced<br>Plans or Programs | Approximate<br>Dollar Value<br>of Shares that<br>may yet be<br>Purchased Under<br>the Plan or<br>Program<br>(In thousands) |         |
|---|--|------------------------------------|---|--|---------|
| July 1, 2012 to July 31, 2012           |  | \$                                 |   | \$   | 117,740 |
| August 1, 2012 to August 31, 2012       |  |                                    |   |  | 117,740 |
| September 1, 2012 to September 30, 2012 | 252,719                                | 32.52                              | 252,719   |  | 109,522 |
| Total                                   | 252,719                                | \$ 32.52                           | 252,719   |  |         |

Item 3. Defaults Upon Senior Securities.

None.

Item 4. Not Used.

Item 5. *Other Information.* None.

Item 6. Exhibits.

- 31.1 Certification of Chief Executive Officer, as Adopted Pursuant to Section 302 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002
- 31.2 Certification of Chief Financial Officer, as Adopted Pursuant to Section 302 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002
- 32.1 Certification of Chief Executive Officer Pursuant to 18 U.S.C. §1350, as Adopted Pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002
- 32.2 Certification of Chief Financial Officer Pursuant to 18 U.S.C. §1350, as Adopted Pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002
- 101 The following financial information from Packaging Corporation of America's Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the quarter ended September 30, 2012, formatted in XBRL (eXtensible Business Reporting Language): (i) Condensed Consolidated Balance Sheets at September 30, 2012 and December 31, 2011, (ii) Condensed Consolidated Statements of Income for the three and nine months ended September 30, 2012 and 2011, (iii) Condensed Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows for the nine months ended September 30, 2012 and 2011, and (iv) the Notes to Condensed Consolidated Financial Statements.

#### SIGNATURES

Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, the Registrant has duly caused this report to be signed on its behalf by the undersigned thereunto duly authorized.

PACKAGING CORPORATION OF AMERICA (Registrant)

By: /s/ MARK W. KOWLZAN Chief Executive Officer

By: /s/ RICHARD B. WEST Senior Vice President and Chief Financial Officer

Date: November 6, 2012